


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ACADEMIC AFFAIRS 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



ACADEMIC AFFAIRS COMMITTEE 
Friday, May 21, 2021 

Smith-Brown Student Union 
Cotillion Ball Room 

Baton Rouge, LA 
9:00 AM 

 
 

AGENDA 
 
 
 

1. Call to Order 
  

2. Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance 
 

3. Roll Call  
 

4. Adoption of the Agenda   
 

5. Public Comments 
 

6. Special Presentation: 
A.  Mark and Dawn Malveaux $1 Million Endowed Scholarship to the Southern 
University and A & M College of Business (SUBR) 

  
7. Action Item(s): 

 
A. Request Approval to Award Juris Doctoral Degree Diploma to Johnnie Jones, Sr. (SULC) 
B. Request Approval to Adopt a Bachelor of Science Nursing Proposal (SUNO) 
C. Request Approval to Adopt a Master of Arts in Teaching (SUNO) 

 
8. Information Item 

 
A. Update on Academic Tenure and Promotion Process  

 
9. Adjournment 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
MEMBERS 

Mrs. Ann Smith – Chairman, Dr. Leon Tarver, II – Vice-Chair, 
Mr. Myron Lawson, Mr. Sam Gilliam, Ms. Christy Oliver Reeves, Dr. Leroy Davis 

                     Atty. Domoine D. Rutledge-- Ex Officio





“An Equal Educational Opportunity Institution”  

 
 

 
 

Office of the Chancellor 

SOUTHERN UNIVERSITY AT NEW ORLEANS 
6400 Press Drive 

New Orleans, LA 70126 
Phone: (504) 286-5311 Fax: (504) 286-5000 

www.suno.edu 
 
 
 
 
 

May 10, 2021 
 

Dr. Ray L. Belton 
President - Chancellor 
Southern University System 
4th Floor, J.S. Clark Administration Bldg. 
Baton Rouge, LA 70813 

 
Dear Dr. Belton: 

 
Following the approval of the Letter of Intent to offer the Bachelor of Science in Nursing (BSN) by 
the Louisiana Board of Regents (BoR), Southern University at New Orleans (SUNO) is pleased to 
submit the full proposal for approval by the Southern University System Board of Supervisors.  The 
proposal has been prepared per BoR guidelines and describes the details of a new BSN program that 
SUNO plans to begin in the 2022-2023 academic year.  Since the proposal must be submitted to the 
BoR in advance of the May 21st meeting of the Board of Supervisors, I am requesting that you and 
the Chairman consider signing the proposal today and request ratification at the upcoming meeting.  

 
The proposal describes the rich background of the University and how the program aligns with the 
mission to produce graduates who represent the diversity of our community and who will earn degrees 
that provide them with an upwardly mobile career path and a life of service to the citizens of Louisiana.   

 
The proposal also addresses the fact that there is a shortage of nurses in the state and nation, and that 
many qualified applicants to existing BSN programs are turned away each year due to current programs 
being at capacity. In addition, it is well documented that there is also a shortage of nurses of color 
within the nursing workforce which limits the culturally sensitive nursing care that society needs. SUNO 
is well positioned to attract a diverse student body. 

 
We have carefully planned the resources needed to deliver a quality program and have a plan to attract 
experienced and well qualified faculty to implement the program.  In addition, we have the support of 
administrators at Ochsner Health and the Louisiana Children’s Medical Center (LCMC) Health System, 
the two dominant health systems in the state.  More importantly, Ochsner and LCMC have committed 
30 clinical positions for our students throughout their networks. The New Orleans Black Nurses 
Association has also declared their support for the program and are eager to have new nurses of color 
enter our BSN program and the workforce.    

 
We are eager to add this program to our Bachelor of Science offerings, which we think will lead to 
increased enrollment.  But we are especially excited to make a much needed contribution to our 
community of students, New Orleans, and the state of Louisiana. 



“An Equal Educational Opportunity Institution”  

We ask your support and the approval of the Board of Supervisors for the proposal, and look forward to 
the opportunity to join the other universities in Louisiana who are working to alleviate the nursing 
shortage. 

 
 

With kind regards, 

 
James H. Ammons, Jr. PhD 
Executive Vice President-Chancellor 
Southern University at New Orleans 

 
 
 

APPROVED:    
Ray L. Belton, Ph.D. 
President-Chancellor 
Southern University and A&M College System 



  1 

Louisiana Board of Regents 

-- Including incremental credentials building up to the Degree -- 
* Prior to final action by the Board of Regents, no institution may initiate or publicize a new program.* 

Institution: 

Southern University at New Orleans 
Requested CIP, Designation, Subject/Title: 

51.1601 Bachelor of Science in Nursing 

Contact Person & Contact Info: 

Dr. Murty Kambhampati, Professor of Biology, Department of Natural Sciences Southern University at 
New Orleans, 6400 Press Drive, New Orleans, LA 70126 Office: 504-286-5069 Cell: 504-450-4082 
Email: mkambham@suno.edu 

Date BoR approved the Letter of Intent:  April 28, 2021 

Date Governing Board approved this Proposal:  May 10, 2021 

Planned Semester/Term & Year to Begin Offering Program: August 16, 2021 (Begin Development Year) 
August 2022 Admit Students to Program 

Program Delivery Site(s): Southern University at New Orleans, 6400 Press Drive 
New Orleans, LA 7012 

 
 

1. Program Description 
Describe the program concept: (a) purpose and objectives; and (b) list learning outcomes for the pro-
posed program, i.e., what students are expected to know and be able to do upon completion of the 
program. Be as specific as possible. 

The Southern University at New Orleans (SUNO) seeks approval to develop a new Bachelor of Science in 
Nursing degree (BSN) program to better serve its community. This new program will be housed as a de-
partment in the College of Arts and Sciences where it will join the departments of Arts & Humanities, 
Social Sciences Natural Sciences and three academic units including Forensic Science, Health Information 
Management Systems, and Interdisciplinary Studies. 

The BSN will be structured according to the university requirements for Bachelor of Science degrees which 
includes completing 120 credit hours, 240 quality points, and meeting residence and community service 
learning requirements.  In addition, it will meet SUNO’s 39 credits hours of general education require-
ments, plus an additional 21 credits of required support courses in the physical and psycho-social sciences 
to support the knowledge and competencies that will be developed as students compete the 120 credits’ 
nursing curriculum. 

The program will be a four-year, 8 semester program with general education courses being delivered in 
the first four semesters, except for four nursing credits delivered in semester three and four in semester 
four.  The second four semesters (years 3 & 4) will consist of nursing courses except for six general edu-
cation credits delivered in semester six. 

SUNO’s goals for all students who complete a bachelor’s degree as stated in its current catalog, (p.5) are 
to: 

• communicate effectively in oral and written English 

• read with comprehension 



  2 

• reason abstractly and think critically 

• understand numerical data and statistics 

• understand the scientific method 

• be familiar with key technological and informational application 

• learn independently 

• recognize and appreciate cultural diversity 

• understand the nature and value of fine and performing arts 

• develop personal value system while retain a tolerance for others; and 

• understand the American political and economic system 

The program outcomes for this new BSN program align with these SUNO goals and are stated as follows:  

At the conclusion of the program students will be able to:  

• Plan and implement nursing care using the foundation of liberal education, biological & behavioral 
sciences humanities and nursing science 

• Communicate and collaborate effectively within the health care team using interpersonal, profes-
sional and information technology knowledge and skills 

• Utilize the scientific method critical thinking, problem solving and evidenced based practice concepts 
in planning and delivering nursing care 

• Demonstrate knowledge and use of professional standards ethical values, and legal standards in safe 
and effective nursing practice 

• Plan and deliver care with consideration of client values, customs, culture, religion and beliefs 

• Apply leadership and management concepts, skills and decision making into nursing practice 

• Demonstrate basic understanding of the role of the nurse in health promotion disease/injury preven-
tion and population health across the lifespan 

• Demonstrate a basic understanding of system influences on patient safety and nursing practice in-
cluding health care policy, regulation, resource management, technology, economics, and politics 

These program outcomes have been developed to insure graduates also meet the Essentials: Core Com-
petencies for Professional Nursing Education (2021) published by the American Association of Colleges of 
Nursing (AACN).  The Essentials are integrated into the curriculum portion of professional nursing accred-
itation standards, have guided nursing curricula development since 2008 and the latest revision published 
in April 2021 have emphasized competency-based learning.  The current Essentials describe foundational 
elements of nursing as a discipline, the foundation of a liberal education, and principles competency-
based education.  It identifies eight major concepts that serve as the foundation for students learning that 
include:  

• Clinical judgement 

• Communication 

• Compassionate Care 

• Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion 

• Ethics 

• Evidence-Based practice 



  3 

• Health Policy 

• Social Determinants 

The Essentials also describe the domains of the discipline of nursing that should be considered when con-
struction nursing education programs.   These domains include: 

• Knowledge for Nursing Practice 

• Person Centered Care 

• Population Health 

• Scholarship for the Nursing Discipline 

• Quality and Safety 

• Inter-professional Partnerships   

• Systems-Based Practice 

• Informatics and Health Care Technology 

• Professionalism 

• Personal, Professional, and Leadership Development  

As noted on the AACN website  https://www.aacnnursing.org/Education-Resources/AACN-Essentials  the 
Essentials Series delineates the national consensus by providing the elements and framework for building 
nursing curricula and outline the necessary content and expected competencies and clinical support 
needed for nursing programs. They provide guidance for what students are expected to know and do 
upon graduation to ensure they are prepared for safe and effective practice necessary to pass the National 
Council Licensure Exam (NCLEX) to become certified as a Registered Nurse (RN).   The Collegiate Council 
for Nursing Education (CCNE), the organization that SUNO will apply to for national professional accredi-
tation for this new program, requires that BSN programs show integration of the Essentials in Standard III 
utilized to evaluate program curriculum.  Standards for Accreditation are found in Appendix 1. 

Map out the proposed curriculum, including course credits and contact hours (if applicable). Identify any 
incremental credentials and/or concentrations within the degree. Indicate which courses will be new. De-
scribe plan for developing and offering new courses as well as any special program requirements (e.g., 
internships, comprehensive exam, thesis, etc.). 

To ensure the program outcomes are met, the first year of the program will include liberal arts and science 
courses, two nursing courses will be introduced in the second year and the third and fourth year will 
consist primarily of nursing courses.  When a program chair and faculty are hired during year one (the 
planning year) prior to student admission, they will develop the final curriculum as required by the Loui-
siana State Board of Nursing (LSBN) and professional accreditation criteria that requires the curriculum to 
be developed and maintained by program faculty. 

  





  5 

Identify any embedded Industry-Based Certifications (IBCs). Describe process for student to earn/re-
ceive the IBC. 

Upon graduation students must pass the National Council Licensure Exam (NCLEX) to satisfy the National 
Board of Nursing and the LSBN that the graduate has the ability to practice safely as a registered nurse 
(RN).  The test measures knowledge in four broad areas including 1) maintaining a safe & effective care 
environment, 2) providing health promotion & maintenance, and knowledge of 3) Psychosocial integrity, 
& 4) Physiological integrity.  Applicants will not be certified with the RN to practice until they achieve a 
passing grade on NCLEX.  Those who take the exam in Louisiana but do not earn a passing grade have the 
opportunity to re-take the Exam 4 times within 4 years (there must be a minimum of 45 days between re-
takes).  Student support activities to help prepare students for success on the NCLEX exam are described 
in the Student section of this report. 

Program Delivery (Courses): To what extent must a student come to the campus to complete this pro-
gram, including orientation or any face-to-face meetings? 

Courses are planned to provide general education and nursing courses that compliment and reinforce 
each other to ensure students graduate as competent caring novice professional care givers. Most nursing 
courses have a clinical companion course that will develop their care-giving skills with a defined patient 
population.  This will help them learn the common and the unique needs associated with different life 
stages and educate them to be a generalist who can function safely and effectively in multiple settings.  

Each course credit delivered in the classroom will represent 1 contact hour and each course credit of a 
clinical course will represent 3 contact hours.  For example, each course designated as a clinical or practice 
course that is designated as a 2-credit course will include 6 hours of clinical learning in the Nursing skills 
lab or Nursing Simulation Lab, or in the clinical area with individuals, families, groups, or communities 
while delivering curative, rehabilitative, wellness, end-of-life or population-based care. 

Orientation to the program and to each new level will be designed by faculty when hired and included in 
class time.  Orientation to each new clinical agency will also be included at the start of each clinical rotation 
as students progress through each clinical course. 

Many of the general education courses are available through hybrid/on-line modalities which have be-
come more available recently to meet students’ needs during the pandemic.  For example, 17 of the re-
quired general education courses listed in the BSN curriculum above are available to students in the hy-
brid/on-line format.  The learning management system utilized to deliver on-line course work is Moodle.  
Courses available in this format include: 

SENL 101N English Comp I 

MATH 151N College Algebra 

SHIS 201N or SHIS 202N History of US 

JRDV 111 Coll Survival Skills 

JRDV 111A Freshmen Assembly 

SENL 102N English Comp II 

FIAR 101N Intro to Art or MUSC 101N 

SSOC 201N Introduction to Sociology 

SPSY 201N General Psychology 

CISP 164N Computer Productivity Applications 

SCHE 132N & LN Gen Chem 



  6 

SMAT 130N  Elementary Statistics 

SBIO 221N & LN Hum Anat & Phys I 

SBIO 220N/LN Pathogenic Microbiology & Immunology 

PSYC 340N Developmental Psychology 

SBIO 222N&LN Hum Anat & Phys II 

PHIL 222N Intro to Ethics 

Nursing courses are currently planned to be on campus in traditional classroom or seminar settings with 
up to 30 students per class.  As the development of the program progresses and matures, it is likely that 
on-line options will be incorporated into on-campus nursing classes to provide more flexibility to students.  
All clinical courses will be delivered in small group and through direct instruction and supervision by a 
faculty member in a skill building or simulated laboratory setting and later in the clinical setting (limited 
to 10 per group by LSBN rules).  Patient Care clinical settings will include hospitals, long term care/reha-
bilitation agencies, clinics, home care and community and public health settings. 

Contracts with clinical agencies will be negotiated during the 2021/22 academic year by the Program Chair 
to provide clinical settings appropriate for achieving the learning outcomes for each clinical course.  Let-
ters of support from health care agencies pledging to accept SUNO BSN students when they begin clinical 
courses in the 2023/24 AY can be found in Appendices 2 and 3.  These letters confirm that the six health 
care agencies in the LCMC system that includes Children’s Hospital New Orleans, East Jefferson General 
Hospital, New Orleans East Hospital, Touro, University Medical Center New Orleans, and West Jefferson 
Medical Center will accommodate our students.  As noted in the letter of support from the Chief Nursing 
Officers of all six agencies, they have the capacity to include our students in clinical rotations and doing 
so will have no negative impact on nursing programs that are already utilizing their agencies.   In addition 
to the LCMC system, Ochsner Medical Center also supports the initiation of this program and will accom-
modate SUNO BSN students for clinical instruction at Ochsner Northshore, St. Bernard, Ochsner Kenner, 
Ochsner Westbank, Ochsner Baptist and St. Charles Parish Hospital, as noted in Appendix 3.  Having the 
support of LCMC and Ochsner medical facilities will provide access to all of our BSN students to the mul-
tiple specialty units needed and give them the opportunity to learn nursing care delivery in acute care, 
preventative care, rehabilitation, and community settings.  Clinical rotations will be scheduled at the con-
venience of the agencies and as noted in the letter of support, will not disadvantage nursing students 
enrolled in other New Orleans area schools who also complete their clinical education in these agencies. 

The Southern University Board of Supervisors approved the BSN program on March 12, 2021.  Please see 
Appendix 4 for minutes of the Board of Supervisors meeting showing their approval.  The signature of the 
Chairman of the Southern University Board of Supervisor included at the end of this report also demon-
strates the approval of the program. 

2. Need 

How is this program essential for the wellbeing of the state, region, or academy (e.g., how is it relevant, 
how does it contribute to economic development or relate to current/evolving needs). 

SUNO was founded in 1956 and opened in 1959 in eastern New Orleans in historic Pontchartrain Park, a 
middle-class community of largely African Americans.  For over sixty years, SUNO has been a beacon of 
hope for traditional and nontraditional students who are mostly minority and from limited resource fam-
ilies. 

The purpose of the BSN program is to educate additional nurses to meet the health care needs of the 
population of New Orleans and the state while furthering the mission of SUNO.  According to published 



  7 

statistics, Louisiana is experiencing a shortage of nurses.  In addition, the current nursing workforce needs 
additional nurses of color to provide culturally sensitive health care.  SUNO’s mission as a member of 
Historically Black Colleges & Universities (HBCU) has long been to deliver quality education programs and 
to serve a diverse population.  SUNO’s mission states: 

“Southern University, a public, historically black university, empowers and promotes the upward 
mobility of diverse populations of traditional and nontraditional students through quality aca-
demic programs, teaching, research, and service to achieve excellence in higher education using 
various teaching and learning modalities”.  (SUNO catalog 2018-20, p 16) 

SUNO has been committed to developing a BSN nursing program for several years.  The university’s long-
standing goal to serve its community with a BSN program began in 2014 when it submitted a Letter of 
Intent to the Board of Regents.  The LOI was approved in February of 2015.  Unfortunately, the path for-
ward seemed too challenging for success at that time.  The next step in the process was to apply to the 
LSBN for approval.  The LSBN regulations are professionally specific, highly detailed, and SUNO did not 
have nursing expertise on staff.  Further, other new programs were in process, changes were occurring in 
university leadership, and financial resources could not support needed consultation to proceed with 
seeking approval from the LSBN.  Rather than attempt to go forward without the requisite resources the 
process was postponed. 

The Bachelor of Science in Nursing program will be a highly welcomed addition to the academic programs 
at the University.  Survey data from currently enrolled students show they are potential enrollees and 
indicate the program is attractive to a diversity of traditional and nontraditional students.  The ultramod-
ern natural science building that will house the program and the plans in place to provide needed teach-
ing/leaning resources, backed up by highly credentialed faculty, will ensure teaching, scholarship and ser-
vices to enrich support for the mission statement. 

SUNO has a new Chancellor who enthusiastically supports the establishment of this program and has 
committed the resources to do so, thus SUNO is ready to meet the critical need for more nursing educa-
tional opportunities for Louisiana students. Evidence of this need is described below: 

Nursing is a profession in demand and statistical projections say the demand will increase well into the 
future.  It is also a profession that is highly valued by society as evidenced by the many reports surfacing 
during the COVID-19 pandemic citing the outstanding service of nurses. The Bureau of Labor and Statistics 
(BLS) notes that employment of nurses in the US is projected to grow much faster than the average for all 
occupations through 2028.  In 2018 there were 3,059,800 Registered Nurses (RNs) employed in the US 
and the BLS projects that number will grow to 3,431,300 needed by 2028. This 12 per cent growth rate far 
exceeds the 5 per cent growth projected for all occupations.  The Louisiana Workforce Commission star 
level for Registered Nurse rating is 5 Stars as noted at http://www.laworks.net/ on February 23, 2021. 

Need to increase the numbers of nurses in the Louisiana Workforce: 

Louisiana statistics also reflect a current nursing shortage and continued shortfall into the future.  Findings 
in a recent report entitled “Louisiana’s 2019 Nursing Workforce Demand Report” published by the Louisi-
ana State Board of Nursing (LSBN), Center of Nursing (August 2020) note that the number of new RNs do 
not meet the estimated demand and in light of the COVID-19 pandemic the shortage will be exponentially 
increased as we move into the future.  For example, healthcare facilities surveyed reported that although 
there are 38,787 nurses employed agencies surveyed reported that there are 1,948 vacant positions that 
are not filled within the state. 



  8 

The majority of the RNs employed in all of the healthcare industries surveyed were prepared at the asso-
ciate and baccalaureate level.  Most of the nurses employed in hospitals, hospice, ambulatory surgery 
centers and public health agencies are baccalaureate prepared nurses. 

One of the major recommendations of the report was to increase the capacity of nursing programs to 
ensure that there will be a continuous pipeline of new RNs available to meet the ongoing demand for 
nurses in Louisiana. 

Similar statistics are reported by the Louisiana Workforce Commission in the “Long-term occupational 
projections for all occupations to 2026”.  Their findings, starting in 2016, show that 44,000 RNs were in 
the workforce and project that by 2026 Louisiana will need 50,700. They also project that the annual new 
growth of RNs will be 610 per year by 2026 but there will be annual openings of 3,010 positions. 

These national and state-based reports provide clear evidence of the need for additional nurse supply in 
Louisiana to meet the growing demand for Registered Nurses. 

Need to increase the numbers of educational opportunities for qualified students: 

Statistics reported by the LSBN in their Nursing Education Capacity in Louisiana report (2019) show that 
although there is a nursing shortage, many students who are qualified and who wish to obtain the RN 
education are not able to be accommodated by the current nursing school programs.  One of the major 
findings noted states that in the 2018/19 academic year only 69% of the 4889 qualified applicants who 
applied to nursing programs were admitted.  This left 1,499 denied admission and 663 were applicants to 
BSN programs.  In fact, this pattern of current schools being unable to admit all qualified applicants has 
been consistent for at least the last five years with between 506 and 668 qualified applicants being denied 
admission each year since 2015. 

Need to Increase ethnic diversity in the nursing population: 

Finally, there is a need for much more diversity in the nursing profession to better serve the patient pop-
ulation in our society.  Phillips and Malone, in a 2014 report, noted that a more diverse health workforce 
that is culturally and linguistically competent can better meet the health care needs of an increasingly 
diverse U. S. population.  In addition, the Academy of Medicine and the National Quality Forum both 
emphasize the need for the nursing workforce to become more diverse to insure increased patient satis-
faction, improved patient-clinician communication and greater access to care for patients belonging to 
minority populations. 

As the healthcare sector becomes more and more regulated, workers in this industry - particularly nurses- 
are expected to undergo substantial education and training.  And, while the vast number of Americans 
gaining access to care increases through initiatives like the Affordable Care Act, the demand for more 
healthcare workers also increases.  This is a mandate of sorts - to create more avenues wherein more 
people, namely underrepresented populations, can gain access to establish reputable careers within the 
health care field.  Being both a public University and a Historically Black University/College (HBCU) will 
significantly increase the amount of diversity and representation among the caregivers that will graduate 
from our nursing program and go on to have successful healthcare careers.  This alone will directly address 
racial disparities currently being experienced in the health care system. 

The LSBN in their 2019 report referenced earlier also recommends that the capacity of nursing programs 
be increased to ensure a diverse workforce that reflects the racial/ethnic composition of the overall state 
to provide culturally competent care to racial/ethnic minority populations.  According to the latest US 
Census (2010) the demographics of Louisiana include: 

  



  9 

Gender: 51.0%  Female 

Ethnicity: 58.4%  White 

  32.8 %  Black/African American 

  5.30%  His/Latino 

  4.50%  Other 

According to Louisiana Center for Nursing (2019) The Demographics of the Current Nurse Workforce in-
clude: 

Gender: 80%  Female 

Ethnicity: 80%  White 

  17%  Black/African American 

  02%  Asian 

  01%  Other 

These statistics confirm a need for additional diversity within our student nurse and nursing workforce 
population to better match the diversity of the population and to better serve the health outcomes of the 
citizens of the state. 

LOUISIANA WORKFORCE COMMISSION STAR LEVEL (http://www.laworks.net/Stars/) 

Nursing is reported as a five-star program, according to the Louisiana Workforce Commission classifica-
tion. 

Describe how the program will further the mission of the institution. 

SUNO’s mission as a public, historically black university empowers and promotes the upward mobility of 
diverse populations of traditional and nontraditional students and provides a sound education tailored to 
special needs of students with diverse backgrounds.  SUNO’s addition of a BSN program will increase the 
number of students admitted to nursing each year, decrease the number of qualified students who are 
turned away each year and contribute to building a nurse workforce more culturally representative of the 
citizens of Louisiana and help improve health outcomes.  In summary, the need and relevance of this 
program is evident by its potential to: 

 further SUNO’s mission and increase its capacity as a positive institution of service to the under-
served in Louisiana 

 give graduates the opportunity to engage in an upwardly mobile profession that enhances their 
quality of life and the economic growth of the community 

 provide graduates who will make a valuable contribution of service and improved health care out-
comes within the health care industry 

 alleviates the nursing shortage and improves diversity within the nursing workforce 

Identify similar programs in the state and explain why the proposed one is needed:  present an argu-
ment for a new or additional program of this type and how it will be distinct from existing offerings. 

The following lists shows the current BSN programs in Louisiana as of 2018/19: 

 Chamberlain University 

 Dillard University 



  10 

 Franciscan Missionaries of Our Lady University (Formerly Our Lady of the Lake) 

 Grambling State University 

 Herzing University 

 Louisiana College 

 Loyola University 

 LSU Health Sciences Center 

 McNeese State University 

 Nicholls State University 

 Northwestern State University of Louisiana 

 Southeastern Louisiana University 

 Southern University and A&M College 

 University of Holy Cross 

 University of Louisiana Lafayette 

 University of Louisiana Monroe 

 William Carey University 

These programs offer a variety of options to students in Louisiana and other states to earn a BSN degree 
but most report they are at capacity and turn away qualified students each year.  Further, a BSN program 
at SUNO would be the only school in the city of New Orleans that is offered in a public HBCU with com-
paratively low tuition that will offer opportunity to low-income students in a largely African American 
community.  Graduates from that catchment area are likely to have community ties and will likely stay in 
the area to serve the New Orleans community. 

Nursing Deans and Directors cited several reasons for not being able to admit additional students.  The 
top reasons cited in the 2019 Nursing Education Capacity report were: 

1. Budgeted faculty positions not available 

2. Faculty Salaries not competitive 

3. Qualified faculty not available 

4. Classroom space not available 

They also reported their concern that admitting additional students could cause difficulty in finding 
enough clinical sites to accommodate students’ clinical rotations in the health care agencies that welcome 
their students each semester. 

To deal successfully with these challenges SUNO has the full support of administration to approve an ad-
equate number of faculty positions to serve 30 students each year for the first three cohorts and beyond.  
During the first year of establishing the program in AY 2021/22 a Program Chair, an administrative assis-
tant and two full time faculty will be hired to spend the first year developing the necessary infrastructure 
of the program and be ready for meeting LSBN requirements at the end of that year to demonstrate read-
iness to earn approval to admit nursing students to the program.  This will occur following a site visit from 
LSBN at the end of AY 2021/22.  Following approval by the LSBN to admit students the first class of soph-
omores will be admitted in the fall of 2022/23 who will complete the two introductory Nursing courses.  
As the students progress through years three and four and new cohorts are added, additional nursing 
faculty will be added to accommodate each year’s cohort.  In AY 2024/25 when all three years have 30 



  11 

students enrolled the budgeted positions will include a Program Chair, an administrative assistant, and 7 
full time nursing faculty necessary to provide expertise in Adult Health, Maternal Health, Child Health, 
Community Health, Research & Leadership/Management expertise and Simulation Learning expertise.  In 
addition, a 1.0 FTE of part time adjunct faculty will be needed to ensure adequate clinical supervision for 
small group clinical education to augment full time faculty roles.  This will provide 8 FTE faculty for 90 FTE 
students for a faculty:student ratio of 11.25: 1. 

Current reports list a shortage of nursing faculty as a concern that limits current programs from admitting 
more qualified nursing applicants each year.  For example, one of the major findings in the 2019 Louisiana 
Nursing Education Capacity Report published by the LSBN Center of Nursing states that: “non-competitive 
faculty salaries tied with the lack of a sufficient number of budgeted faculty positions as one of the major 
contributing factors associated with inability of Louisiana’s pre-RN licensure programs to admit 1,406 qual-
ified students during the current report year.”  These statistics are of concern when contemplating a new 
BSN program and as a result SUNO has planned several strategies to attract a qualified administrator and 
faculty to ensure success of the program, including: 

1. Creating a path of communication with LA nurses each year who are working toward being educationally 
qualified to serve as Nursing Faculty in a BSN program.  SUNO will request to work with Chief Nursing 
Officers of the 10 current LSBN approved graduate programs in LA who offer MSN and Doctorate degrees 
in Nursing.  We will ask their assistance in letting their potential graduates know of our faculty needs 
through sharing notices of faculty position descriptions and requesting the opportunity to meet with in-
terested students who wish to know more about our program through on-campus information meetings 
or job-fairs.  Dr. Sandra Brown, the Dean of Nursing at Southern University A&M has partnered with us to 
help with this process as noted in her letter of support in Appendix 11. 

Although the demand for nursing faculty has been growing as nursing student numbers have increased, 
so too have graduate programs that educate nursing faculty as reported in the recent “Nursing Education 
Capacity in Louisiana 2019” published by the LSBN Center for Nursing.  For example, enrollments and 
graduation numbers have steadily increased from 2015 to 2019 in Advanced Practice Registered Nurse 
(APRN) programs that offer MSN and Doctoral degrees (Table 31, p. 18 & Table 35, p. 20) and in MSN & 
Doctoral degrees that offer Non-Licensure programs (Table 42, p. 24 & Table 46, p. 26). 

In 2019 there was a total of 1,763 students enrolled in approved Graduate Nursing Programs in LA. (1,425 
in APRN, & 338 in Non-Licensure) and the number of graduates from APRN and Non-Licensure graduate 
programs totaled 560 (463 APRN & 107 non-licensure). 

Although these graduates are preparing for both faculty and clinician roles and many are earning their 
degrees to continue in the faculty positions they already fill, it seems logical to conclude that if this pattern 
continues progress is being made toward meeting the need to fill the approximately 100 spots needed 
each year to meet the faculty needs of BSN programs (10 - 16 vacant faculty positions in BSN programs 
between 2015-2019 (Table 19, p11.) and 80 new faculty appointments needed in BSN programs (Table 20. 
p.12) to meet higher BSN enrollments and replace those lost to attrition due to Leave, resignation, retire-
ment, and termination. 

SUNO also enjoys the support and partnership of the SREB Doctoral Scholar Program (DSP) to assist us in 
attracting minority faculty to serve in our BSN program as well as to provide opportunity for SUNO Mas-
ter’s prepared minority faculty to pursue doctoral education in the future.   A letter-of-support from the 
Director of DSP, Dr. Ansley A. Abraham is found in Appendix 5. 

An additional source of MSN and Doctorally prepared graduates who will meet educational requirements 
to serve as faculty in BSN programs are those who may be completing the clinical component of their 
degree requirements in one of the 20 Out of State Graduate Schools Approved to Offer Clinical Experience 



  12 

in Louisiana by the LSBN.  It seems logical that any students who are completing their clinical requirements 
in LA are doing so because they are LA residents who will likely choose to remain in LA to either practice 
as faculty, or clinicians in LA.  Thus, SUNO will utilize all reasonable means to attract faculty through net-
working described above and with colleagues within the education and practice community and advertise 
in national, regional, and local means as needed, such as the Chronicle of Higher Education, Higher Ed 
Jobs, Minority Nurse, AACN Career Center. 

2. Investing enough resources to attract qualified administration and faculty. SUNO is committed to build-
ing an extraordinary program and is willing to invest resources to do so.  Other information that is report-
edly related to the nursing faculty shortage is that the mean salaries earned by faculty in LA are below 
those of other states and below those earned by nurses with graduates employed in practice.  The 2019 
Capacity report notes that although salaries for nursing faculty increased during 2019 the mean salaries 
for all levels of nursing faculty in LA, except for instructors remain below the Southern Regional Education 
Board (SREB) mean.  Table 25, p. 14 of that report notes that Mean Salaries for Nursing Faculty in 2019 
included $58,268 (Instructor), $62,477 (Assistant Professor), $67,965 (Associate Professor) and $88,677 
Professor.  SUNO has set the starting salary for qualified faculty at the Assistant Professor level at $70,000 
and for Associate Professor at $75,000 per academic year that equates to an increase of 12% for Assistant 
Professor level and about 10% for Associate Professor above the current mean salary reported by SREB.  
Salary statistics reported biannually by the American Association of Colleges of Nursing (AACN) were also 
used to help set appropriate nursing salary.  Tables on pages 14, 16, 20 & 28 were considered best repre-
sentative of SUNO and report mean academic year salaries for Assistant Professor to be between $66,171 
to $68,184 and Associate Professor to be between $67,925 to $73,421.  Thus, an estimated starting salary 
for teaching at the BSN level at Assistant rank of $70,000 and at Associate rank of $75,000 is deemed 
reasonable to attract faculty from within the state and from a regional or national audience.  It is also 
noteworthy that salaries for an AY of $70,000 to $75,000 would translate to $87,500 to $93,750 for a 
calendar year, which is competitive with many Master’s/Doctorally prepared nurse clinicians who practice 
year-round and may consider a change to a nurse faculty position given adequate compensation. 

The salary for a Chief Nursing Officer of the new program was also guided by the AACN salary report (2020) 
using tables deemed comparable to SUNO that cite mean salaries.  Although the title “Dean” is utilized in 
the report the Introduction p. iv notes that: 

“…the term “dean” is used throughout this report to refer to the chief executive officer of a school 
of nursing.  It also encompasses those individuals with institutionally determined titles such as, 
chair, head, and coordinator.” 

The following tables were used: 

Table 8, p. 8: (Dean of a Department) $118,602 

Table 9, p. 9: (Dean with Baccalaureate ppm. only) $114,887 

Table 10, p. 9: (Ten Faculty or Less) $113,024 

Table 11, p. 10: (Dean with DNP degree) $107,472 

Table 12, p. 10: (Dean with title of Chair) $115,279 

Table 13, p. 11: (By Rank) Associate Professor: $122,634 
 Assistant Professor: $96,730 

Table 14, p. 11: (By Tenure Track) $109.660 

Table 14, p. 12: (By Carnegie Class M-2) $124,610 



  13 

As a result, the salary budgeted for a Chair of Nursing of the BSN department within the College of Arts 
and Sciences at SUNO is $125,000 to $150,000, depending on qualifications and experience per calendar 
year, thus matching or exceeding national means for Chief Nursing Officer by up to 20% to attract a quali-
fied leader from within the state or from a regional or national audience. 

3. A means to attract a well-qualified part time faculty pool to provide students with experienced and 
current clinical supervision. Statistics report that more part-time faculty have recently been utilized by 
nursing programs to help meet faculty needs when full time faculty cannot be hired.  SUNO has been in 
conversation with clinical agencies to discuss collaborating with them and cost share for the time of an 
agency clinicians and/or administrators educated at the MSN and/or Doctoral level who may be interested 
in serving as adjunct clinical faculty for one day, evening, or night per week.  The 6 Chief Nursing Officers 
of the LCMC System have noted their willingness to consider this option in their Letters of Support found 
in Appendix 2. 

Another pool of part time faculty being considered are highly experienced faculty who are considering 
retirement.  Statistics show that about 30% of current faculty are 61 or older and likely contemplating 
retirement.  SUNO recognizes the contribution of service that this group has provided over many years 
and would welcome those interested in continuing to contribute with the experience and wisdom they 
have accumulated to consider part time adjunct faculty positions for both on campus and clinical part time 
positions. 

4. Finally, SUNO feels optimistic about being able to attract qualified administrators and faculty because it 
is reasonable to assume that there are dedicated nurse administrators currently in assistant or second tier 
administrative positions who would welcome the opportunity to be the founding leader of a new BSN 
program.  This opportunity is often attractive since it appeals to one’s creativity and sense of service, 
especially to a new group of students from an underserved community.  It is also likely, we believe, that 
some current experienced faculty who represent minorities and/or are committed to more diversity in 
professional nursing may be attracted to a new program in an urban HBCU to help recruit and support 
new students of color into the nursing profession.  New Orleans is an attractive and popular city through-
out the United States and professional nurses with graduate degrees have job mobility and security wher-
ever they go, it is reasonable, we believe to assume a faculty position with a competitive salary and the 
opportunity to be faculty in a new nursing program in an HBCU will be attractive to many and will contrib-
ute to the economy and enhance the professional community of New Orleans.  

In summary, given the rising numbers of new graduates from our Masters and Doctoral Nursing programs; 
SUNO’s willingness to invest in salaries competitive with national norms; collaboration with health care 
agencies to cost share adjunct positions and to consider recruitment of qualified retirees; the attraction 
of having the opportunity to lead a new program; and, the likelihood of some current faculty being inter-
ested in helping to educate students of color we believe we will be successful in creating a highly qualified 
team to develop and deliver a highly successful program. 

As noted earlier, we have commitments from ample health care agencies for students to build care-giving 
competence in quality clinical settings with faculty and staff oversight. 

We have shared our intention to prepare our students for clinical experiences during the times that are 
most convenient to the agencies even if evening, nights, weekends, and summer placements are neces-
sary.  We have explained that SUNO’s hallmark is educating nontraditional adults who often meet their 
educational responsibilities in evening and weekend timeframes, so this will not be a new expectation. 

The LCMC system of agencies and Ochsner Health have committed to accommodate our students in clin-
ical placements as noted in their letters of support.  In addition, Dr. Irene Grundy, MD, Associate Chief of 
Staff/Education & DEO of the Southeast Louisiana Veterans Health Care System has expressed support 



  14 

and invited us to contact her when we become accredited by CCNE to apply for academic affiliation to 
accommodate our students in clinical rotations.  The New Orleans Black Nurses Association is also very 
supportive of this new program to help increase the number of nurses of color in Louisiana to help provide 
culturally sensitive care as noted in Appendix 6. 

If approved, will the program result in the termination or phasing out of existing programs? Explain. 

Since this program, if approved, will be the first nursing degree offered at SUNO, it will not require the 
phasing out of an existing program. 

As the program furthers the mission of SUNO it will also support some initiatives identified in the Board 
of Regents Master Plan for Post-Secondary Education in Louisiana: 2011.  Contribution will be made to 
Goal 1 which strives to increase the number of high school students prepared for college; help increase 
the number of non-traditional students over the age of 25; and, help to improve the diversity of students 
and graduates in Louisiana.  Another key component illustrated in the Board of Regents Masterplan is 
Incentivizing success through outcomes-based funding.  The dashboard on the website articulately illus-
trates an integral point: “When the costs of access to and success in higher education are borne by the 
student….many citizens find higher education credentials…impossible.”  The relative lower tuition for 
SUNO students compared to other private nursing programs in New Orleans makes a nursing career at 
SUNO a more attainable goal and is especially advantageous for underrepresented populations who may 
otherwise find a baccalaureate degree unaffordable. Finally, given that African Americans and Hispanics 
make up over a third of the population of Louisiana, the number of this same demographic possessing a 
higher degree is numerically disproportionate.  The Board of Regents recognizes this achievement gap 
and has set a new attainment goal of 60 percent between minorities and whites which will require radical 
and aggressive action.  Establishment of this BSN program at SUNO where 89% of the students report 
their ethnicity as black will address this goal and contribute to the strategic investment needed to expand 
the state’s economic development where it is greatly needed. 

3. Students 

Describe evidence of student interest. Project the source of students (e.g. from existing programs, or 
prospects of students being recruited specifically for this program who might not otherwise be attracted 
to the institution. 

Students have had a long-standing interest in SUNO offering a BSN program.  In 2014, students were sur-
veyed to measure interest in a BSN program and 42 students expressed interest and many completed pre 
nursing course work and transferred to other schools to complete a nursing degree.  This pattern has con-
tinued. Responses to a survey of current SUNO students in the Spring, 2021 semester confirmed that over 
130 students are interested in enrolling in a BSN program if available.  Anecdotal reports from admission 
counselors and advisors also note that potential students often inquire about a nursing major and some 
enroll to complete general education courses and then leave to attend a school that has a nursing program.  
Please see Appendix 7 for current students who have expressed interest in a nursing program at SUNO. 

The survey conducted in the spring 2021 semester revealed over 130 students answered “yes” to the 
question:  If SUNO offers a BSN program would you be interested in enrolling?  The majority of the re-
spondents self-reported to be Biology (33%) and Nursing (29% - those planning to apply to another school 
if SUNO does not start a nursing program) and the rest divided among Psychology (7%), Social Work (7%) 
and HIMS (5%) Addiction Counseling (4%), and Forensic Science & Criminal Justice 3% each, and Other 
(9%).  In addition, these respondents include students from all four student levels which indicates that 
many have already completed most of the pre-nursing prerequisite courses required in the freshmen and 
sophomore years.  For example, of those listed in Appendix 7, 20% (n=27) are freshmen, 35% (46) are 
sophomores, 14% (18) are juniors and 30% (40) are seniors. 



  15 

These students will likely be the pool that will populate the first cohort since time for marketing and re-
cruitment will be limited for the first cohort admitted.  In subsequent years SUNO admission staff will 
recruit among its usual feeder high schools, community colleges, and the New Orleans community.  Given 
the history in recent years of hundreds of qualified students being denied admission to current Louisiana 
programs and the robust level of interest in nursing among current SUNO students it seems likely that 
with intentional marketing a new nursing program will result in a strong positive response within the New 
Orleans area and that maintaining a class of 30 students is a realistic goal. 

Project enrollment and productivity for the first 4 years and explain justify the projections 

SUNO’s goal is to graduate thirty BSN students per year once the program is established. Literature reports 
that attrition in BSN programs can range from 20 to 50%. For example, Elkins (2020) in her “Failure to 
Complete BSN Programs” report states: 

“According to the National League for Nursing, the national dropout rate for nursing programs in 
the United States is 20%, and this high attrition rate is considered problematic.  The National 
League for Nursing Accrediting Commission set the desirable retention rate at 80%.  The national 
attrition rate for nursing programs is too high, with as much as 50% in some baccalaureate nursing 
programs (Merkley, 2016).” 

SUNO will begin by allowing for 20% attrition and monitor data over time to determine future admission 
numbers that will best achieve 30 graduates each year.  To that end, 36 students will be admitted in the 
first cohort planned for fall of AY 2022/23. 

Given the number of current students who have expressed interest, if attrition exceeds 20% after the first 
year, we will offer the two sophomore nursing courses in the summer for qualified students who have 
met prerequisite courses to enter the nursing program at the junior level to fill any open spots and main-
tain a student count of 30 going forward to the junior and senior years. 

Each year actual retention data will be collected to provide evidence-based decision making and over time 
admission numbers will be adjusted accordingly to maintain desired graduation numbers.  Similarly, after 
the first graduation and full approval from LSBN and professional accreditation is achieved, possibilities 
for growth of the program have been considered and include increasing BSN numbers to 40 or 50 each 
year and establishing an RN to BSN program. 

If data such as size of our pool of qualified applicants; continued BSN shortages; availability of faculty; and 
clinical placement sites are available these two initiatives can be achieved with reasonable investment of 
time and resources.  Admission of 10-20 additional BSN students would require the investment of about 
1.5 FTE faculty.  Development of an RN to BSN program would require accepting those with an RN and an 
Associate Degree in Nursing to continue study toward the BSN.  Prerequisites would include meeting 60 
credits of appropriate general education courses work and enrollment in BSN level course work at the 
senior level to complete the courses needed to meet BSN learning outcomes.  This typically is offered in 
3-4 semesters and would require one FTE faculty for up to about 20 students. 

List and describe resources that are available to support student success 

Enrolled students will be supported through current student services programs including: 

 Academic advisement: upon enrollment an advisor is assigned to help students set realistic goals, 
identify special needs, refer to available resources, register for appropriate courses and generally 
guide the path toward goals. 

 The Honors Program: Academically talented and motivated students are offered the opportunity to 
cultivate critical thinking through small classes and independent study under guidance of recognized 



  16 

teacher scholars.  The program is administered by the Director of the Honors Program and commit-
tee members. 

 Early Start Program: A cooperative program with greater metropolitan school districts that provides 
qualified students with a supported transition from high school to college.  It provides the oppor-
tunity for selected 11th or 12th graders to complete college credit and build confidence and ma-
turity to be successful as a college student. 

 Trio Programs: A student support program funded by the US Department of Education for low in-
come, first generation students and/or students with disabilities.  The program is designed to in-
crease academic performance, retention and graduation rates. Students receive instruction in a Col-
lege Survival Skills course that addresses time management, note taking skills, study skills, resume 
writing, career development, financial literacy, financial aid and scholarship information.  Each stu-
dent is assigned an academic coach to serve as a mentor and advisor. 

 Title III: Continuously provides personnel, technology and resources to support for students across 
all facets of the university through 15 sub programs.  For example, The Center for Comprehensive 
Communication (assistance for individuals and groups in reading, english, math, writing to promote 
academic success and Student Development Center that provides multi-faceted counseling and 
wellness services to promote academic success and personal wellbeing. 

Support for NCLEX success throughout the program:  Given the high stakes associated with graduates 
passing of the NCLEX exam in order to practice their career as an RN several steps are planned within the 
program including: 

 Faculty will develop knowledge and awareness of Tools and Methods to prepare students to pass 
NCLEX as part of faculty development expectations such as those found on the National Council of 
State Boards of Nursing website at https://www.ncsbn.org/9012.htm 

 Applicants must complete an entrance exam that predicts ability for success as part of admission 
criteria such as the National League for Nursing Pre-Admission Exam (PAX), Nursing Entrance Test 
(NET), Kaplan Nursing School Admission Test, or Health Education Admission Assessment Skills Exam 
(HESI A2) 

 Faculty will utilize testing at the conclusion of each level to measure knowledge and progress toward 
mastery of clinical judgement measured by NCLEX 

 Faculty will include computer assisted testing (CAT) in courses in addition to paper and pencil testing 
to familiarize students with CAT 

 Students showing lack of progress will be assigned an advisor/mentor to assist them to identify and 
utilize self-help tools such as time management, test anxiety, practice tests, confidence building, 
study skills. 

Senior Level Course Nur 408 NCLEX Preparedness will include: 

 Case study reviews to strengthen Clinical Judgement measured by NCLEX 

 Practice with NCLEX style questions and CAT 

 Review of test taking skills required for CAT success 

 Weekly meeting with assigned advisor/mentor to reinforce strengths in areas of need and study 
skills 

 Required passing of standardizes exam (e.g. HESI, ATI, Kaplan) to predict NCLEX success 

 Completion of Commercial NCLEX Review 



  17 

What preparation will be necessary for students to enter the program? 

Students who wish to be admitted to the BSN will apply for admission at the end of their freshman year 
and will be considered for admission when their pre-nursing course grades are available during the fol-
lowing summer.  Admission criteria will be finalized by the program chair and faculty but is projected to 
include: 

 high school GPA 

 completion of all required pre-nursing courses listed in semester 1 and 2 of nursing curriculum plan 

 GPA earned in required pre-nursing courses listed in semester 1 and 2 of nursing curriculum plan 

 Evaluation of admission interview by nursing team to help gain insight related to interest, enthusi-
asm, motivation, communication, altruism, caring, adaptability, respect for all, empathy, critical 
thinking 

 Evaluation of essay related to reasons for choosing nursing major, writing skill, organization skill, 
past experience, creativity, interest, enthusiasm, motivation, communication, altruism, caring, 
adaptability, respect for all, empathy, critical thinking 

 A background check 

 Evaluation of Standardized Pre-Nursing Admission Test 

4. Faculty 
List Present Faculty Members who will be most directly involved in the proposed program: name, pre-
sent rank; relevant degree, courses taught, other assignments 

All general education courses required in the nursing curriculum are currently offered at SUNO by highly 
qualified faculty.  A list of current SUNO faculty who are likely to teach these courses is found in Appendix 
8.  Although there are currently no nursing faculty at SUNO, this program has been championed by Dr. 
Murty Kambhampati, Professor of Biology.  Dr. Kambhampati holds a PhD in Environmental Science (Jack-
son State University) and a PhD in Ecology (Andhra University, India).  In addition to his teaching duties, 
he serves as a principal investigator on several state and federal grants and in 2015 President Obama 
awarded Dr. Kambhampati the Presidential Award for Excellence in Science, Mathematics and Engineering 
Mentoring (PAESMEM) in Washington D C. 

Dr. Kambhampati has assisted Dr. Carol Seavor, higher education consultant in the preparation of this 
proposal.  Dr. Seavor is an RN with over 40 years of experience in nursing practice and nursing educa-
tion/administration including roles as clinician, clinical administrator, faculty nursing coordina-
tor/chair/dean and college president. 

Project the number of new faculty members needed to initiate the program for each of the first five 
years. 

All Nursing courses will be delivered by qualified Nursing faculty who will be hired when the program has 
earned the appropriate approvals from the Board of Regents and the LSBN.  Louisiana State Board of 
Nursing and CCNE regulations require that nurse faculty hold an active license to practice as a registered 
nurse in Louisiana, hold a graduate degree in nursing, and have a minimum of two years of nursing prac-
tice.  The Program Chair will also meet LSBN requirements which include a minimum of a graduate degree 
in nursing, an earned doctorate, and a minimum of three years of experience in the areas of nursing edu-
cation and three years in clinical practice.  Depending on experience and credentials faculty will likely be 
hired at the Assistant Professor level for the Tenure Track and will be required to meet role expectations 



  18 

for rank as described in the SUNO Faculty Handbook which requires 12 credit hours of teaching per se-
mester, engagement in university and community service and continued professional growth. 

SUNO will search locally for a well-qualified experienced Program Chair and the Chair will search for two 
well qualified nursing faculty members.  If necessary, we will advertise beyond the local/regional area in 
the Chronicle of Higher Education and the Journal of the Black Nurses Association, Minority Nursing as 
well as on appropriate on-line national sites.  Specific strategies for faculty recruitment to meet the chal-
lenge of reported faculty shortages were explained earlier in the Need section on of this report. 

Our first choice will be a Chair who is a current seasoned assistant administrator, dean/director/coordi-
nator who will be attracted to the opportunity to be the founding chair of a new BSN program and com-
mitted to educating students of color to increase diversity in the nursing workforce. 

During the first year (AY 2021/22) the chair/faculty team will work to build the administrative and aca-
demic infrastructure as required by the LSBN.  Near the conclusion of that year a LSBN site visit must be 
scheduled to ascertain if the program has been well developed and has earned initial approval and is ready 
to admit students.   Students with be admitted to the sophomore level curriculum that includes the first 
two nursing courses in AY 2022/23.  Two additional years of study will complete the required curriculum 
and the first graduation will occur in spring of AY 2024/25.  When all cohort years are enrolled there will 
be about 90 FTE students and 8 FTE faculty. 

The full time Program Chair will be hired as soon as possible after the program is approved by the LSBN 
and the Board of Regents.  To meet LSBN regulations the Chair must be in place for the beginning of the 
AY on August 16, 2021 to ensure s/he will have been in the position for 12 months prior to admitting the 
first cohort of students in August 2022.  During the first year the program chair will advertise for and hire 
two faculty members to assist in developing the curriculum and infrastructure of the program and prepare 
for an end of the year site visit from the LSBN to demonstrate readiness to earn approval from the LSBN 
to admit students. 

The two faculty members hired in year one will have expertise in Adult Health Nursing and Simulation 
Learning so they will be qualified to deliver the two initial nursing courses planned for the ensuing year.  
Four additional full time faculty members will be hired in year 3 and year 4 with the qualifications and 
expertise needed to teach specialty courses delivered in those years (adults, obstetrics, pediatrics, mental 
health pub/community health).  One FTE part time position (3-4 faculty @ .25 - 33 FTE assignments) will 
also be budgeted to provide adjunct faculty to insure adequate clinical supervision of students in the clin-
ical area).  In following years, if the applicant pool grows and clinical placements and additional faculty 
are available it is likely that students will be added in multiples of 10 (to maintain LSBN required 10:1 
faculty to student ratio in clinical area) which will require a part time clinical instructor and if 20 students 
are added there would be a need to hire one additional full time faculty member. 

Describe involvement of faculty – present and projected – in research, extension, and other activities 
and the relationship of these activities to teaching load. For proposed new faculty, describe qualifica-
tions and/or strengths needed. 

Present faculty will be involved in teaching general education and support courses for the Nursing pro-
gram.  SUNO faculty engage consistently in research and scholarship as evidenced by the “Breakfast of 
Champions” annual report found in Appendix 9, as well as by a recently published research activity report 
found at https://www.suno.edu/assets/suno/PDFs/Grants-and-sponsored-Research-and-Sponsored-Pro-
grams-Report-2019-2020.pdf 

The nursing faculty workload is planned to meet the university workload for undergraduate full-time fac-
ulty of 12 credit hours per semester.  The workload for nursing faculty is calculated as 1 classroom teaching 



  19 

credit = 1 credit hour of workload and 2 clinical instruction teaching hours = 1 credit hour of workload.  
Thus, a full-time faculty member could be assigned to teach 9 hours of classroom teaching (9 credit hours) 
and 6 hours of clinical teaching (3 credit hours) per week to fulfill a 12-credit hour assignment in a given 
semester.  Alternate assignments may be assigned by the program Chair to represent some of a faculty 
member’s credit hours such as developing a new course or serving on a team to develop an accreditation 
self-study report or write a grant or to take on a leadership/coordination role to improve efficiency.  Work-
load hours will build up to 12 credit hours as students enter each new level and new faculty are hired so 
by the beginning of the AY 2024/25 all faculty will carry a 12 credit per semester assignment. 

In addition to the 12-credit teaching load, all full-time faculty at SUNO are expected to show continued 
growth in their professional faculty role through service and scholarship and Nursing faculty will be no 
exception.  Opportunities for scholarship and research for the Nursing profession are offered at the fed-
eral level by The Department of Health & Human Services, the National Institute of Nursing Research, The 
American Nurses Foundation, Sigma Theta Tau International Nursing Honor Society, and the Health Re-
sources & Service Administration (HRSA).  All provide opportunities for Nursing faculty to seek funding to 
support their research to improve nursing care and improve patient care outcomes.  One particular grant 
that SUNO will apply for to support nursing students is the Scholarship for Disadvantaged Students spon-
sored by HRSA and described at:  https://www.hrsa.gov/grants/find-funding/hrsa-20-006. 

5. Library and Other Resources 

To initiate the program and maintain the program in the first five years what library holdings or re-
sources will be necessary? How do journal, database, monograph, datasets, and other audiovisual ma-
terials compare to peer institutions’ holdings with similar/related programs? 

The Leonard S. Washington Memorial Library at Southern University at New Orleans provides academic 
resources and services for all faculty and students at SUNO.  The services include reference, readers’ ad-
visory, information literacy instruction and many more.  Some of the resources include access to compu-
ting lab, collaboration lab, 3D imaging lab, virtual simulations, electronic books, models, test preparation 
programming and traditional monographs.  The Nursing program participants will enjoy all of the rights 
and privileges of the existing students and faculty.  For the past three years, the library has been acquiring 
content to support the highly anticipated nursing program.  In addition to utilizing the selected print and 
electronic resources for the SUNO student, the faculty and staff may access and borrow content from any 
of the 41-member university libraries participating in the state library consortium (LOUIS) reciprocal bor-
rowing program.  In the event a resource is not available within the state, the library may borrow the item 
on behalf of the patron via the interlibrary loan system.  All library services and resources are available in 
multiple formats of delivery to ensure that remote and distance students have access to the same quality 
of service, equipment, and devices. 

What additional resources will be needed: 

Current library holdings are adequate to initiate the proposed program.  The Health Information Manage-
ment Systems, Substance Abuse, Social Work and Natural Sciences programs utilize health care related 
data bases, periodicals, references, texts, etc.  Additionally, the library works closely with the office of 
Career Services and has acquired several nursing specific resources to support the interest of students 
who expressed a desire work in the healthcare system as nurses. 

The library holdings in this program area are comparable with Delgado and Southern University — Baton 
Rouge nursing collections.  Delgado and Southern University — Baton Rouge have fully-developed, qual-
ity, long-standing Nursing programs approved by the state.  However, should the faculty in the SUNO 
program express a desire to enhance or expand the collection to meet the specific goals of the SUNO 







  22 

equipment, anatomic models), technology-related equipment such as high and low fidelity manikins that 
simulate healthy conditions, injuries, and physical and mental behaviors to help students learn clinical 
skills in realistic but safe learning environments are also included. 

Describe the need for new facilities (e.g., special buildings, labs, remodeling, construction, equipment), 
and estimate the cost, proposed sources of funding, and estimated availability for program delivery. 

Funds ($54,000) for minor renovations or additional technology equipment has been included in the 
budget to be sure the high-tech simulation labs and control room, constructed in 2018 is up to date to 
support audio/visual communication for students to observe teaching/learning scenarios and participate 
in debriefings in classrooms/skills & simulation labs. 

7. Administration 

In what administrative entity (department/school/college) will the proposed program be housed?  How 
will the new program affect the present administrative structure of the institution? 

This new program will be housed as a department in the College of Arts and Sciences where it will join the 
Departments of Arts & Humanities, Social Sciences, Natural Sciences and three undergraduate programs 
of Forensic Science, Health Information Management Systems, and Interdisciplinary Studies.  As noted 
earlier, it will share space with HIMS students to facilitate interaction and mutual support between the 
two heath care oriented programs and over time faculty may find some synergies that will build formal 
relationships such as a course related to Health Care Systems, or Research, Leadership, Ethics in Health 
Care.  The current administrative structure will not be affected.  The Program Chair of the BSN will report 
directly to the current Dean of the College of Arts and Sciences as do the chairs of current departments 
within the College. 

Discussions with the University of New Orleans, Delgado Community College, and Southern University at 
Shreveport have been held to discuss ways to collaborate.  These discussions will continue when the pro-
gram is approved with the intention to create articulation agreements so UNO students who meet pre-
requisites can be considered for admission to the BSN program and Delgado and Southern University at 
Shreveport students who hold an Associate Degree in Nursing can continue study at SUNO toward their 
BSN. 

Describe the departmental strengths and/or weaknesses and how the proposed program will affect 
them. 

The College of Arts and Sciences, where the Department of Nursing will reside, is a crucial college within 
the university since it provides foundational courses and exposes all students to language and liberal and 
scientific studies to expand their educational and cultural horizons.  The new Nursing Department will 
bring strengths to the College since its students will need to be academically competitive, highly qualified, 
and motivated to earn the professional BSN degree.  In addition, to earning the BSN degree, following 
graduation, they must be prepared to pass a national standardized exam proving they are knowledgeable 
and competent to practice nursing safely and earn the legal certification of Registered Nurse (RN).  In 
addition, nursing faculty must also demonstrate knowledge and competence to earn and maintain con-
tinued approval of the LSBN and earn and maintain national accreditation.  Thus, both students and fac-
ulty must demonstrate continued quality improvement to meet state and national accountability stand-
ards to survive and thrive.  Achieving and maintaining quality standards will reflect positively on the Col-
lege of Arts and Sciences and the University. 

  



  23 

8. Accreditation 

Describe plan for achieving program accreditation, including:  name of accrediting agency, basic require-
ments for accreditation, how the criteria will be achieved, and projected accreditation date. 

The LSBN requires that once a program is granted full approval by LSBN, the program shall achieve na-
tional nursing accreditation within one year (with a possible one-year extension). 

Final approval of LSBN will occur when the first cohort has graduated (spring 2025) and taken their NCLEX 
exams and if all criteria are met and at least 80% of the graduates in the cohort pass the NCLEX the pro-
gram will earn final approval. 

There are two organizations recognized by the US Department of Education that accredit Nursing pro-
grams:  The Accreditation Commission for Education in Nursing (ACEN) and The Commission on Collegiate 
Education (CCNE).  SUNO’s plan is to seek professional education accreditation from (CCNE).  SUNO plans 
to achieve CCNE accreditation prior to the first cohort’s graduation so the first graduates will have the 
benefit of graduating from an accredited program.  To achieve this the following timetable is planned: 

• Spring Semester 2024:  Apply to CCNE for “new applicant” status and request a visit in Spring 
Semester 2025. 

• Write a self-study report documenting compliance with CCNE accreditation criteria and submit 
to CCNE six weeks prior to site visit in Spring, 2025. 

• Receive notification from CCNE board in Fall 2025 that accreditation has been achieve retroactive 
to visit date in spring 2025. 

This timetable ensures that the first graduating class will have the benefit of graduating from a nationally 
accredited program and will ensure the programs continued quality and approval of the LSBN through it 
professional accreditation status. 

Initial CCNE accreditation status lasts for up to 5 years prior to re-evaluation and subsequent accreditation 
evaluation may last up to ten years. 

To ensure accreditation criteria will be met the four broad CCNE accreditation Standards (Mission & Gov-
ernance; Institutional Commitment & Resources; Curriculum & Teaching Learning Practices; Assessment 
& Achievement of Outcomes) and the more detailed key elements have been closely considered in the 
development of the program to date (curriculum, student resources, alignment with university mission 
and policies, etc.)  These standards will also be closely followed when the Chair and faculty members 
continue its development during the initial planning year as they build the infrastructure of the program 
elements including:  BSN mission and vision to align with SUNO’s mission, course and syllabi development, 
theory and clinical learning outcomes, department by-laws, student & faculty policies, committee struc-
ture, teaching - learning practices, faculty qualifications, admission criteria, advising, systematic evalua-
tion process and the like.  CCNE Accreditation Standards to be met can be found in Appendix 1. 

The cost for accreditation is significant and is included in the budget.  Costs include: 

• Current fee for “New Applicant Status” (for applicants offering only the BSN) is $2,500 

• Fee for an Evaluation Visit is $1,750 per team member for programs offering only the BSN and 
may be up to 3 visitors for a total of $1,750 x 3 or $5,250 

• Annual fees, once accredited, for BSN only is $2,777 

Initial accreditation is usually granted for 5 years and subsequent evaluation visits may be granted for up 
to ten years.  



  24 

9. Related Fields 

Indicate subject matter fields at the institution which are related to, or will support, the proposed pro-
gram; describe the relationship. 

The university’s several other programs with a health care orientation include Social Work, Addiction 
Counseling, and Health Information Management Systems.  The HIMS program is most closely related to 
the nursing program having similar pre-requisites and preparing for a career in similar health care agen-
cies.  As noted above, these two program will share facility space in the natural sciences building.  How-
ever, having four health care related programs provides future opportunities for collaborative efforts to 
develop interdisciplinary activities to help students learn to value of collaboration and collective learning. 

These health-related programs are of strong and high quality as evidenced by their achievements which 
include: 

• The Addictive Behaviors Counseling Program is an Approved Institution of Higher Education Pro-
vider for the Addictive Disorders Regulatory Authority, (ADRA). All SUNO SACP classes can be ap-
plied toward certification by ADRA. 

• The HIMS is accredited by the Commission on Accreditation for Health Informatics and Infor-
mation Management Education (CAHIIM). HIMS graduates are eligible to sit for the Registered 
Health Information Administrator (RHIA) examination with the American Health Information 
Management Association (AHIMA) 

• The Social Work program, both bachelor and master level, is accredited by the Council on Social 
Work Education. 

SUNO is eagerly anticipating adding the BSN to its list of nationally accredited programs which also in-
clude: 

• The College of Education and Human Development is approved by the Louisiana Department of Educa-
tion and accredited by The Council for the Accreditation of Educator Preparation (CAEP). 

• The College of Business and Public Administration is accredited by the Association to Advance Collegiate 
Schools of Business (AACSB) International. 

• The Child Development and Family Studies program is accredited by the American Association of Family 
and Consumer Sciences (AAFCS). 

10. Cost & Revenue 

Summarize additional costs to offer the program, e.g., additional funds for research needed to support 
the program; additional faculty, administrative support, and/or travel; student support. How will the pro-
gram affect the allocation of departmental funds? 

Since this is a new program there are significant new costs as reflected in the budget.  For example, pro-
jected costs for salary of new Nursing personnel include a new Chair and 8 FTE faculty and 1 administrative 
assistant over the first four years include benefits and a 3 % cost of living factor total $2,975,774.  

Equipment is the second most costly category at about $625,000 over the first 4 years.  These expenses 
relate to providing teaching learning laboratories that simulate hospital and other health care agency en-
vironments.  For example, about $300,000 is budgeted for high and low fidelity technology manikins and 
about $325,000 on related furniture, care-giving equipment, human model teaching tools, and possible 
upgrades to simulation control room technology. 



  25 

Travel costs are reflective of planning for about $5,000 per year for Program Chair to attend 3-4 local, 
regional and/or national meetings per year to stay current and for professional development and about 
$1,000 for each faculty for faculty development meetings/workshops each year. 

Expendable supplies are budgeted for about $13,000 in year 1 and $6,000 each subsequent year to sup-
port simulated care-giving activities in nursing laboratories. 

Other expenses listed in the Budget are Training to reflect the costs of faculty development workshops/ac-
tivities to ensure they are informed of best methods to prepare students throughout the program to pass 
the NCLEX exam upon graduation.  They include $500 per each new faculty member to learn best advis-
ing/coaching strategies and methods to stay abreast of NCLEX blueprint and test-taking methods/strate-
gies. 

Testing includes the cost of using standardized tests at admission to predict success in a Nursing curricu-
lum and to track student progress toward readiness to pass NCLEX during year 3 and 4 including: 

• about $50-75 per student at admission 

• practice test at the end of each semester in year 3 & 4 at about $50 per student $3,300 in year 3) 
and (3,000 in year 4). 

• comprehensive end-of-program predictive test at about $200 per student ($6,000) and 

• an end of program commercial NCLEX review courses at about $300 per student ($9,000) for a 
total of about $24,000 over the first four years. 

Although budgeted student fees will be used to underwrite some of these costs any testing costs that 
exceed fees generated will be absorbed by the university. 

As noted in the Library section earlier in this report, current library resources are sufficient to start the 
program and Library support will be budgeted at about $3,000 in years one, two, and three to add any 
faculty requested new reference holdings and texts to compliment the new courses in the BSN program, 
and then $2,000 per year to maintain up to date holdings. 

Accreditation costs will occur in years 3 ($2,500 application fee) and 4 ($8,027 for site visit) for a total of 
$10,527. 

Department costs associated with the new BSN program will be added to the College of Arts and Sciences 
budget and administered by the chair of nursing.  Existing program resources will not be affected by the 
addition of this program. 

On the separate budget form, estimate new costs and revenues for the prog for the first four years, indi-
cating need for additional appropriations or investment by the institution 

Outside of revenue from tuition & fees, explain and justify any additional anticipated sources of funds, 
e.g. grants (in hand, promise, or in competition) institutional funds, etc. 

The University will allocate annually between $210,000 and $229,473 of state appropriated funds to the 
BSN program in the first four (4) years.  The University will also allocate $500,000 annually from Title III 
Strengthening Historically Black Colleges and Universities Grant Programs.  These federal programs award 
funds to HBCUs to assist them in strengthening their academic, administrative, and fiscal capabilities.  
SUNO has received funding from these federal programs since 1965.  In addition, SUNO will allocate 
$100,000 annually from the medicinal marijuana allocation from the Southern University System.  These 
revenue sources in combination with annual tuition and fees, as shown in the budget revenues table, 
demonstrate that revenues will exceed costs to ensure viability of the program. 







  28 

APPENDIX 1 

CCNE STANDARDS FOR ACCREDITATION OF BACCALAUREATE AND GRADUATE NURSING PROGRAMS 
(Amended 2018) 

 
STANDARD I:  PROGRAM QUALITY: MISSION AND GOVERNANCE 

 I-A. The mission, goals, and expected program outcomes are: 

 congruent with those of the parent institution; and 

 reviewed periodically and revised as appropriate. 

 I-B. The mission, goals, and expected program outcomes are consistent with relevant professional 
nursing standards and guidelines for the preparation of nursing professionals. 

 I-C. The mission, goals, and expected program outcomes reflect the needs and expectations of the 
community of interest. 

 I-D. The nursing unit’s expectations for faculty are written and communicated to the faculty and are 
congruent with institutional expectations. 

 I-E. Faculty and students participate in program governance. 

 I-F. Academic policies of the parent institution and the nursing program are congruent and support 
achievement of the mission, goals, and expected program outcomes. These policies are: 

 fair and equitable; 

 published and accessible; and 

 reviewed and revised as necessary to foster program improvement. 

 I-G. The program defines and reviews formal complaints according to established policies. 

 I-H. Documents and publications are accurate.  A process is used to notify constituents about changes 
in documents and publications. 

STANDARD II:  PROGRAM QUALITY:  INSTITUTIONAL COMMITMENT AND RESOURCES 

 II-A. Fiscal resources are sufficient to enable the program to fulfill its mission, goals, and expected 
outcomes. Adequacy of fiscal resources is reviewed periodically, and resources are modified as 
needed. 

 II-B. Physical resources and clinical sites enable the program to fulfill its mission, goals, and expected 
outcomes. Adequacy of physical resources and clinical sites is reviewed periodically, and re-
sources are modified as needed. 

 II-C. Academic support services are sufficient to meet program and student needs and are evaluated 
on a regular basis. 

 II-D. The chief nurse administrator of the nursing unit: 

 is a registered nurse (RN); 

 holds a graduate degree in nursing; 

 holds a doctoral degree if the nursing unit offers a graduate program in nursing; 



  29 

 is vested with the administrative authority to accomplish the mission, goals, and expected 
program outcomes; and 

 provides effective leadership to the nursing unit in achieving its mission, goals, and ex-
pected program outcomes. 

 II-E. Faculty are: 

 sufficient in number to accomplish the mission, goals, and expected program outcomes; 

 academically prepared for the areas in which they teach; and 

 experientially prepared for the areas in which they teach. 

 II-F. Preceptors (e.g., mentors, guides, coaches), if used by the program as an extension of faculty, 
are academically and experientially qualified for their role. 

 II-G. The parent institution and program provide and support an environment that encourages faculty 
teaching, scholarship, service, and practice in keeping with the mission, goals, and expected fac-
ulty outcomes. 

STANDARD III:  PROGRAM QUALITY: CURRICULUM AND TEACHING-LEARNING PRACTICES 

 III-A. The curriculum is developed, implemented, and revised to reflect clear statements of expected 
student outcomes that: 

 are congruent with the program’s mission and goals; 

 are congruent with the roles for which the program is preparing its graduates; and 

 consider the needs of the program–identified community of interest. 

 III-B. Baccalaureate curricula are developed, implemented, and revised to reflect relevant professional 
nursing standards and guidelines, which are clearly evident within the curriculum and within the 
expected student outcomes (individual and aggregate). Baccalaureate program curricula 
incorporate The Essentials of Baccalaureate Education for Professional Nursing Practice (AACN, 
2008)* 

Note:  (III-C, D, E Key elements apply to Masters Programs) 

 III-F. The curriculum is logically structured to achieve expected student outcomes. 

 Baccalaureate curricula build on a foundation of the arts, sciences, and humanities. 

 Master’s curricula build on a foundation comparable to baccalaureate-level nursing 
knowledge. 

 III-G. Teaching-learning practices: 

 support the achievement of expected student outcomes; 

 consider the needs and expectations of the identified community of interest; and 

 expose students to individuals with diverse life experiences, perspectives, and back-
grounds. 

 III-H. The curriculum includes planned clinical practice experiences that: 

 enable students to integrate new knowledge and demonstrate attainment of program out-
comes; 



  30 

 foster inter-professional collaborative practice; and 

 are evaluated by faculty. 

 III-I. Individual student performance is evaluated by the faculty and reflects achievement of expected 
student outcomes. Evaluation policies and procedures for individual student performance are 
defined and consistently applied. 

 III-J. The curriculum and teaching-learning practices are evaluated at regularly scheduled intervals, 
and evaluation data are used to foster ongoing improvement. 

STANDARD IV:  PROGRAM EFFECTIVENESS: ASSESSMENT AND ACHIEVEMENT OF PROGRAM OUTCOMES 

 IV-A. A systematic process is used to determine program effectiveness. 

 IV-B. Program completion rates demonstrate program effectiveness. 

 IV-C. Licensure pass rates demonstrate program effectiveness. 

 IV-E. Employment rates demonstrate program effectiveness. 

 IV-F. Data regarding completion, licensure, certification, and employment rates are used, as appropri-
ate, to foster ongoing program improvement. 

 IV-G. Aggregate faculty outcomes demonstrate program effectiveness. 

 IV-I. Program outcomes demonstrate program effectiveness. 

 IV-J. Program outcome data are used, as appropriate, to foster ongoing program improvement. 

 

SOURCE:  https://www.aacnnursing.org > Standards, Procedures & Guidelines > CCNE Standards & Pro-
cedures > Standards for Accreditation of Baccalaureate and Graduate Nursing Programs (Amended 
2018) pages 6 - 22. 
  



  31 

APPENDIX 2 
 

LCMC LETTER OF SUPPORT 

 



  32 

 



  33 

APPENDIX 3 
 

OCHSNER LETTER OF SUPPORT 
 

 



  34 

APPENDIX 4 
 

MINUTES OF UNIVERSITY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS SHOWING PROGRAM APPROVAL 
 

  



  35 

 



  36 

  



  37 

APPENDIX 5 

SREB LETTER OF SUPPORT 

 



  38 

APPENDIX 6 

LETTER OF SUPPORT 
NEW ORLEANS BLACK NURSES ASSOCIATION 

  

























  50 

APPENDIX 10 

FLOOR PLAN OF NURSING SPACE 

 



  51 

APPENDIX 11 

SOUTHERN UNIVERSITY – BATON ROUGE LETTER OF SUPPORT 

 



  52 

References 

2019-2020 Salaries of Instructional and Administrative Nursing Faculty in Baccalaureate and Graduate 
Programs in Nursing. Washington, DC: American Association of Colleges of Nursing. 

2019-2020 Salaries of Deans in Baccalaureate and Graduate Programs in Nursing. Washington, DC: 
American Association of Colleges of Nursing. 

American Association of Colleges of Nursing (2020). Nursing faculty shortage fact sheet.  Retrieved from 
https://www.aacnnursing.org/News-Information/Fact-%20Sheets/Nursing-Shortage. 

Bienemy, C. Increasing Nursing Education Capacity as one of Many Strategies Needed to Combat the 
Nursing Shortage in Louisiana. Retrieved from https://www.lsbn.state.la.us. 

Bureau of Labor Statistics, U.S. Department of Labor, Occupational Outlook Handbook, Registered 
Nurses.  Retrieved from https://www.bls.gov/ooh/healthcare/registered-nurses.htm. 

Elkins, Nancy, Failure to Complete BSN Nursing Programs: Students’ Views.  Retrieved from 
https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1252119.pdf. 

Louisiana State Board of Nursing (2019). Annual Report. Retrieved from 
http://www.lsbn.state.la.us/1/Documents/AnnualReport/AnnualReport2019.pdf. 

Louisiana State Board of Nursing, Center of Nursing (2020), Louisiana’s 2019 Nursing Workforce Demand 
Report. Retrieved from http://lcn.lsbn.state.la.us/Portals/0/Docu-
ments/2019%20LCN%20Nurse%20Demand%20Report.pdf. 

Louisiana State Board of Nursing, Center of Nursing (2020), 2019 Nursing Supply Addendum Report.  Re-
trieved from http://lcn.lsbn.state.la.us/Portals/0/Documents/2019. 

Louisiana State Board of Nursing, Center of Nursing (2020), Snapshot of Nursing Education Capacity and 
Nursing Supply in Louisiana.  Retrieved from http://lcn.lsbn.state.la.us/Portals/0/Docu-
ments/2019%20Snapshot%20of%20Nursing%20Educat ion%20Capacity%20and%20Nurs-
ing%20Supply%20in%20Louisiana.pdf. 

Merkly, Brett, B. Student Nurse Attrition:  Half century of research (2016). Journal of Nursing Education 
and Practice, Vol 7, No 3.  Retrieved from http://www.sciedupress.com/journal/in-
dex.php/jnep/article/view/7960. 

Phillips J, Malone, B. Increasing Racial Ethnic Diversity in Nursing to Reduce Health Disparities and 
Achieve Health Equity.  Public Health Reports (2014) Jan-Feb 129 (Supp12) 45-50.  Retrieved 
from https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24385664/. 

Reulbach, L. Manager of Laboratory Operations Pacific Lutheran University (Personal Communication) 
February 5, 2021. 

Southern Regional Education Board. (2019) Average salaries of full-time instructional faculty by rank at 
public four-year colleges and universities.  Retrieved from https://www.sreb.org/post/average- 
salaries-full-time-instructional-faculty-public-four-year-colleges-and-universities. 



  53 

Southern University at New Orleans. Undergraduate and Graduate Catalog.  Retrieved from 
https://www.suno.edu/assets/suno/PDFs/Academics/Academic-Catalogs/2018- 
2020_SUNO_Academic_Catalog_Revised_05-04-2020pdf.  

The Diversity of Louisiana’s Registered Nurse Workforce: Race/Ethnicity and Gender.  Retrieved from 
https://lcn.lsbn.state.la.us/Portals/0/Document/DiversityReport2016.pdf. 



 

    “An Equal Educational Opportunity Institution” 

 
 

 
May 7, 2021 
 
 
 
Dr. Ray L. Belton 
President-Chancellor 
Southern University System 
4th Floor, J.S. Clark Administrative Bldg. 
Baton Rouge, LA  70813 
 
Dear Dr. Belton: 
 
Following the approval of the Letter of Intent to offer a Master of Arts in Teaching with a focus 
on Special Education by the LA Board of Regents, Southern University at New Orleans is 
delighted to submit the full proposal for approval by the Southern University System Board of 
Supervisors.   The full proposal has been prepared per Board of Regents guidelines that require 
the separation of the Elementary Education (Grades 1-5) from the Secondary Education (Grades 
6-12) component.  Both components focus on Special Education. 
 
The proposal is supported by several Parish School Boards including Orleans, Jefferson, St. 
Tammany, St. Charles and Plaquemines. 
 
 I seek your approval and submittal to the Southern University Board of Supervisors for 
consideration at the May 21, 2021 meeting. 
 
 
With kind regards,  

 
James H. Ammons, Jr. PhD  
Executive Vice President-Chancellor  
Southern University at New Orleans 
 
 
 
APPROVAL:       
  Ray L. Belton, Ph.D. 
  President-Chancellor 
  Southern University System 
 

SOUTHERN UNIVERSITY AT NEW ORLEANS 
6400 Press Drive 

New Orleans, LA  70126 
Phone: (504) 286-5311 Fax: (504) 286-5000 

www.suno.edu 

Office of the Chancellor                                              
 



SOUTHERN UNIVERSITY AT NEW ORLEANS 
6801 PRESS DRIVE 

NEW ORLEANS, LOUISIANA  70126 
Phone 504-286-5351         FAX: 504- 284-5546 

 
 

 

College of Education & Human Development 
                   Office of the Dean 
     Reflective Practitioners for Global Environments 

  
 
May 4, 2021 
 
Dr. James H. Ammons, Jr., Chancellor 
Office of the Chancellor 
Southern University at New Orleans 
        
 

Subject: Proposals for Master of Arts in Teaching Degrees (Elementary and Secondary Education Mild Moderate) 

 
Dr. Ammons, 
 
Please consider recommending, to the Southern University System Board, the College of Education & Human 
Development’s proposals to establish new Masters of Arts in Teaching degrees (Elementary and Secondary 
Education Mild Moderate), designed for students seeking teaching certification in Special Education. The 
program will complement the current certification only program by offering graduate courses that allow 
candidates to apply for licensure from the Louisiana Department of Education while earning a graduate degree.  
Graduates of the program will obtain the required knowledge base to serve students with mild/moderate 
disabilities.   Attached is a copy of the final revised proposals for submission to the Southern University System 
Board and the Louisiana Board of Regents for approval. 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
Dr. Willie Jones, III, Dean 
College of Education & Human Development 
 
 
 
 
 
cc:   Dr. David Adegboye, V.C. for Academic Affairs 
 Dr. Jenita Hegwood, Department Chair for Teacher Education 
 
 







  
  

  
 

  
   
     
   
   
   
    
   
   

   
   

   
    
  
   
   

  

  

     

           

    

               
             

             
          
             

              
            

             
              

 

  
  

     
  

  
 

    

   

   
             



























































 
 

ATHLETICS 

 



 

ATHLETICS COMMITTEE 
(Following Academic Affairs Committee) 

Friday, May 21, 2021 
Smith-Brown Student Union 

Cotillion Ball Room 
Baton Rouge, LA 

 
AGENDA 

 
 

1.  Call to Order 
 
2.  Roll Call 
 
3.  Adoption of the Agenda 
 
4.  Public Comments 
 
5. Action Item(s): 
 

A. Request Approval of Athletic Funding Support (SUBR) 
B. Request Approval of Personnel Action within the Department of Athletics equal to or Greater 

than $60,000.00 
Name Position/Campus Salary Funding Source 

1. Charlie Ayro Assistant Football Coach 
Additional Duties 

(SUBR) 

$60,000.00 State 

2. Zachary Grossi Assistant Football Coach 
Additional Duties 

(SUBR) 

$105,000.00 State 

3.  James Rollins Interim Head Football Coach 
Additional Duties 

(SUBR) 

$250,000.00 State 

4. Lionel Washington Assistant Football Coach 
Additional Duties 

(SUBR) 

$90,000.00 State 

  
6.   Information Item 

A.  Introduction of the Interim Head Coach 
 
7.   Other Business 
 
8.  Adjournment 
 
 

MEMBERS 
Mr. John Barthelemy – Chairman, Dr. Rani Whitfield – Vice-Chair, Mr. Myron Lawson, 

Mrs. Ann Smith, Atty. Jody Amedee, Atty. Ed Shorty 
              Atty. Domoine D. Rutledge-- Ex Officio 



































































 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

FACILITIES AND 
PROPERTY 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

FACILITIES AND PROPERTY COMMITTEE 
(Following Athletics Committee) 

Friday, May 21, 2021 
Smith-Brown Student Union 

Cotillion Ball Room 
Baton Rouge, LA 

 
 
 

AGENDA 
 
 

1.  Call to Order 
 
2.  Roll Call 
 
3.  Adoption of the Agenda 
 
4.  Public Comments 
 
5.  Action Item 
 A.  Request Approval of Small Capital Outlay Project (SUBR) 
 
6.  Information Item 
  A.  Facilities Planning Project Updates (SUS) 

 
7.  Other Business 
 
8.  Adjournment 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

MEMBERS 
Dr. Rani Whitfield – Chairman, Ms. Arlanda Williams – Vice Chair, 

Mr. John Barthelemy, Mr. Richard Hilliard, Mr. Myron Lawson, Dr. Leon Tarver  
Atty. Domoine D. Rutledge- Ex Officio 



*Institutions seeking to borrow funds to cover the design and/or construction cost shall provide detailed 
information related to the short-term note, including but not limited to, a pro-forma. 
 
 

LOUISIANA BOARD OF REGENTS  
SMALL CAPITAL PROJECT RECORD AND APPROVAL FORM  

(Projects $175,000 - $1,000,000)* 
 ___________________________________________________________________________________                                                                                                                                                                  
 
INSTITUTION:  ___SOUTHERN UNIVERSITY________ 
 
PROJECT NAME/TITLE: _______SU GATEWAY_________ 
 
PROJECT LOCATION: Southern University Baton Rouge entrance at the foot of the overpass (the Hump) at the 
intersection of Scenic Hwy & Harding Blvd 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
__         Baton Rouge______________________________________________East Baton Rouge_____ 
        City               Parish 
 
Ownership of affected property: a) Institutionally Owned____X____________ 
b)  Leased/Rented____________ c) Owned by Other State Agency _________                       
 
PROJECT COST: 
 Estimated cost of project (excluding arch./engr. fees):                                              
 Funding:   a) Operational Funds ____________  

b) Auxiliary Funds ______________  
c) Self-Generated (Describe Self-Gen Source) _X_________ 

   d) *Short-Term Note (Provide Pro-Forma) ___________________________ 
    *Include Loan Interest Rate, Payment Schedule, Source of Pledged Funds, etc. 
d)  Other _____________ (describe) _______________________________              

 
PROJECT SCHEDULE: 
 Does project require Facility Planning & Control (FP&C) Selection Board process? __NO_ 
 IF NO - Anticipated construction starting date:__12/21_ Completion date: __06/22__ 
 Is Arch./Engr. planning underway?    _YES__ 

If so, explain status of planning and anticipated bid date, etc.:Conceptual Design completed, 
Renderings completed, Estimated Construction Costs Submitted.  Anticipated bid date = 
12/21 

 
IMPACT ON OPERATING BUDGET: 
 As a result of this project, annual operating cost will: 
 Increase              Decrease               Remain the same __X________ 

If an increase or decrease, explain amount of change in personnel, utilities, insurance, etc.:     
________________________________________________________________________                                                                                                                                                                        

 
PROJECT COORDINATION: 
 Architectural and/or engineering planning will be done by: 
 a)  Institutional Personnel ____  b) Private Contract   _X___ 
 
 Actual construction, renovation, repair work will be done by: 
 a)  Institutional Personnel ____  b) Private Contract   _X 
 

Will any other agencies/personnel be involved in this project?  If so, explain: 



*Institutions seeking to borrow funds to cover the design and/or construction cost shall provide detailed 
information related to the short-term note, including but not limited to, a pro-forma. 
 
 

AREAS SERVED BY PROJECT: 
 
ACADEMIC     X      ADMINISTRATIVE      X        AUXILIARY __X___ 
 
PROJECT DESCRIPTION: 
Please explain the following in the space below (provide detailed response, including pro-forma for short-
term note funded projects; add lines/page if necessary): 
 
a)  Justification for project- _The beautification and updating of the entrance to the Southern 
University Baton Rouge campus in effort to preserve, recruit and retain a legacy of excellence_ 
 
 
b)  Scope of work, equipment, etc.-  _Site work, demolition, piles, stamped concrete, CMU wall 
structures, structural steel, bricking, steel arches, site lighting, waterproofing and landscaping. 
 
 
c)  Relationship and cost of past and future phases-___Nothing comparable__ 
 
d)  Size of structure or area to be renovated and cost per square foot 
Include a reduced copy of plan or a sketch of work.  Attach additional pages if necessary. 
            
 
CONTACT PERSON: 
 List person to contact for further information concerning this project: 
 
 Name:     Maurice Pitts                  Telephone number: ___225-771-2488_ 
 
 Email:  __maurice_pitts@subr.edu_ 
 
APPROVALS: 
 
INSTITUTION: 
 This project complies with applicable local, state and federal requirements. 
 
 By                                                                        Date   ______________                           
   Chancellor or Designee 
 
MANAGEMENT BOARD: 
 
 Date Received                               
 
 Staff Approval Date                     By________________________________________                                                            
        President or Designee 
 
BOARD OF REGENTS: 
 
 Date Received                                            
 
 BoR Staff Approval Date                           By________________________________                                                           
        Commissioner of Higher Education 





Southern Unversity and A&M College
Facilities and Property Report

SU System Campuses Projects

AGENCY PROJECT NAME PROJECT BUDGET COMMENTS

SUAG

SUAG Arena
building
exterior painting and wall
svstem/roof canopy repairs

350,000.00$               Pending Funding 

SUAG

SUAG - A. 0. Williams Hall
Renovations - Phase 2, Part
1 Westside Attic & interior
moisture control and
Mechanical System upgrades

1,660,400.00$            

Pre-construction meeting for 
abatement 4/26/21.  Mold 
remediation has begun.  
Construction slated for June.  
Project estimated end date 
December 2021

SUAG

SUAG - A. 0. Williams Hall 
Renovations - Phase 2, Part 2 
Eastside, ext. wall flashing, de-
brick masonry and Mechanical 
System upgrades

4,000,000.00$            
Projected to go out for bidding in 
July.

SUAG SUAG New Mega Disaster Relief 
Shelter (2,500 beds)

23,375,000.00$          
Design contract awarded to 
Domain Architects and Modus, Inc.

SUAG
SUAG Urban Forestry & Natural 
Resources Headhouse 
Renovations

350,000.00$               
Bid awarded to Dynamic 
Construction; Pre-construction 
4/29/21

SUBR New Science "STEM" Complex 
Building

48,000,000.00$          
Prelim-program submitted to 
FP&C; awaiting architect selection.

SUBR

W. W. Stewart Hall Auditorium 
Mech. HVAC repairs/upgrades 
and J. S Clark Adm. Building -
Upgrade chill water and hot
water pumps and install new 
automated digital controls

610,000.00$               Currently in progress

SUBR
DOTD Ravine Erosion Control & 
Road Improvements

8,000,000.00$            Currently in progress

SUBR



SUBR

J. W. Fisher Renovations Phase 1 - 
classroom Labs hoods, lab 
casework, Mech., Elect, Window 
sys. Interior finishes upgrades pj# 
01-107- 18-02 WBS-F.01003868

8,500,000.00$            
Ready for bidding predecated on 
vacating current personnel

SUBR
Demolition of Jesse Owens. Hall

252,664.00$               Bidding

SUBR
SU Laboratory School Addition 
and Upgrades

8,029,200.00$            Prelim-program being finalized.

SUBR
Stewart Hall - Wall Mount HVAC 
Units upgrades

1,800,000.00$            
Preliminary programming and cost 
estimating

SUBR
Ruffin Paul Central Plant - Loop 
Pumps, Valves, VFDs

322,000.00$               

Initial project completed however, 
with it coming under budget, 
additional funds have been 
appoved to be repurposed for 
additonal valves.  SU will manage 
project.

SUBR

ADA Safety Compliance &
Drainage Project at the Law
Center

95,400.00$                  
Complete, awaiting CO approval 
for additional work.

SUBR

Repairs of 100ft tower and
parking lot lighting upgrades
to LED's - West and East of
F G Clark Activity Center /
Upgrade lighting system for
classrooms, exits and
stairwells in various buildings
(Disaster Relief Shelter)
WBS:F.19002290

291,000.00$               
Awarded to Sun Industries; waiting 
on light fixtures to be delivered.

SUBR
Demolition of Washingtoo Hall 
and Collections & Receivab_les 
Building

368,816.00$               
Awarded to Lathan Contruction; 
begins 5/10/21.

SUBR
SU Laboratory School Elementary 
Build-1 Exterior Window & Build-
2 Interior, Gym  Roof and North 
Parking Lot upgrades

740,000.00$               
Currently awaiting plan review by 
FP&C

SUBR
Navy ROTC (Army ROTC- review 
20 year warranty) Roof 
Replacement

110,000.00$               Plan review by FP&C and SUBR

SUBR
J. B. Moore Hall Roof 
Replacement

300,000.00$               Plan review by FP&C and SUBR



SUBR
DOTD - Information Center
@ SUBR Campus

5,625,876.00$            
Awarded to Blount Contruction; 
site work has begun water line 
removed and relocated.

SUBR

WW Stewart Hall           
Renovations to 2nd floor
Restrooms Renovations

175,000.00$               
Awarded to Integrity Builders; shop 
drawing submitted to architect for 
review.

SUBR
Law Center Mechanical HVAC 
Upgrades Phase 1

350,000.00$               
In design with architect and 
engineers

SUBR
Law Center Mechanical
HVAC upgrades Phase 2 390,000.00$               

In design with architect and 
engineers

SUNO Washington Library - Reroofing 525,000.00$               

Manning Architects to
procee d with design
planning phase in progress
Nov 2020

SUNO

ADA Compliant Restrooms and 
Public accommodations in the 
Cafeteria, University Center, 
Health & Physical Education, 
Library and Administration 
Building,
Planning and Construction

1,650,000.00$            
Program under review from SUNO 
for review by FP&C for selection of 
Designer in April 2021

SUNO

Site Parking Lot Restoration Phase 
1 & 2 - Demo of temporary fema 
trailers on the lake campus  
(classrooms) and park campus 
(conf. center).

2,154,846.00$            

Active - Phase 2 - 75% complete-
pending additional planning 
meeting w/ Fp&c. All South Eng. 
designer -planning 10june20 w/ afc
$1,709,918 - bidding in Feb
2021

SUNO

Campus sidewalk and parking lot 
upgrades / repairs for various 
locations on the Park Campus and 
Lake Campus
WBS-F.19002262

145,000.00$               
Active - planning by Studio Kiro  
Nov2019 , CD planning and bidding 
Oct 2020 - pending bids Feb 2020



SUNO
Demolition of existing Buildings - 
New Science and Old Science 
Buildings

1,393,000.00$            

Active - planning by
Manning Architects w/ pre-design 
meeting Oct. 2019 - bidding date is 
set for Sept/Oct 2020/Jan 19, 2021 
- pending to award project to 
lower bidder in review by fp&c 
Jan/Feb
2021

SUNO
Administration Building -
Roof upgrades 350,000.00$               

Verges Rome Architects in Design 
planning phase

SUSLA

Lewis Collier Hall Science Building 
Renovaion,
Planning and Construction

4,200,000.00$            
pending program from SUSLA for 
review by FP&C for selection of 
Designer in April 2021

SUSLA
Gymnasium roof
replacement I building ext. walls & 
Mech. System upgrades

400,000.00$               
Engineering study by fp&c in 
progress for planning phase Jan. 
2021

SUSLA
Library Building Roof Replacement 
Building

160,000.00$               
pending proj# to proceed
by fp&c

SUSLA
Mechanical/HVAC System· Repairs 
- Controls - WBS:F.19002199

476,000.00$               

Active - pending planning & 
bidding - Purtle & Assoc. Eng. - 
planning Des. Dev. Phase:  Re-bid 
date pending for Feb 2021

SUSLA
ADA Restrooms upgrades 
Downtown Metro 3rd & 4th floors 
- WBS:F.19002255

202,747.00$               

Active - pending planning by Fp&c - 
Designer McNew Architects (Brian 
McNew 318-219-7388) -
pending final CD's completion Feb. 
2021 to set-up for bidding March
2021

SUSLA

Louis Collier Hall (Site campus 
drainage upgrade throughout the 
main campus)
WBS:F.19002260

47,828.00$                  

Active - planning by The 3- KLW 
Company Inc. - pending additional 
funds by
the State



SUSLA

Mechanical System - Replace Air 
Handler Units and Duct system, 
Fan Coils, Exhaust Fans (Science 
Building (S07505), (Fine Arts, 
S07509 & Jesse Stone, S07511) 
Server Unit Repair (IT, Main 
Campus, S07503), Replace Fan Coil 
Unit Motors and (Administration 
S07503), Replace Pumps 
(Administration S07503) -
WBS:F.19002261

515,000.00$               

Active - planning by Purtle & 
Associates Sept 2019 - Pre Bid 
meeting Sept 11, 2020 and Bid 
open Sept 24, 2020 low bid by The 
Payne Company at
$399,000 - pre-Const. meeting Jan 
2021 and work in progress

TOTAL 125,914,777.00$        

SUBR -  Ravine Erosion Control and Road Improvements
Construction is progressing on the BA Little side (50% complete).  Projected end date August 





 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

FINANCE 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

FINANCE COMMITTEE 
(Following Facilities and Property Committee) 

Friday, May 21, 2021 
Smith-Brown Student Union 

Cotillion Ball Room 
Baton Rouge, LA 

 
 

AGENDA 
 
 

1.  Call to Order 
 
2.  Roll Call 
 
3.  Adoption of the Agenda 
 
4.  Public Comments 
 
5. Action Items: 

A. Request Approval of Resolution that enables Southern University A&M to incur debt for the 
purpose of constructing Honors Apartments and a Student Union Complex through the HBCU 
Financing Program. 

B. Request Approval to Rededicate Existing Fees to Support the Construction of the New Student 
Union (SUBR) 

 
6.  Informational Item 
      

A.  Finance Update 
      1.  Interim Financial Reports 
 

 
7. Other Business 
 
8.  Adjournment 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

MEMBERS 
Dr. Leon R. Tarver–Chairman, Mr. Myron Lawson -Vice Chair 

Mr. Sam Gilliam, Atty. Ed Shorty, Mr. Richard Hilliard, Dr. Rani Whitfield, 
Atty. Domoine D. Rutledge- Ex Officio 

 
 



1 

RESOLUTION 
BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE SOUTHERN UNIVERSITY 

SYSTEM AUTHORIZING THE INCURRENCE OF DEBT UNDER 
THE HBCU CAPITAL FINANCING PROGRAM 

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the Southern University System (the "Board") has the 
responsibility and authority to manage and direct the affairs of Southern University (the "University"), and 
to control and dispose of its property and funds; and 

WHEREAS, the President of the University must obtain approval of the Board for applying to a 
proposed lender to obtain the necessary and appropriate financing for the University projects described 
below (the "Projects"); and 

WHEREAS, Section 3351(A)(4) of Title 17 of the Louisiana Revised Statutes of 1950, as amended 
(LA. R.S. 17:3351(A)(4)), Chapters 13 and 14A of Title 39 of the Louisiana Revised Statutes of 1950, as 
amended, and Article VII, Section 6(c) of the Constitution of the State of Louisiana of 1974 
(the "Constitution" and, together with the cited authority, the "Act"), and other constitutional and statutory 
authority, authorize the Board of the System to borrow money and to issue bonds, notes or certificates of 
indebtedness and pledge revenues to guarantee payment thereof in accordance with law and with the 
approval of the State Bond Commission; and 

WHEREAS, the University desires to seek financing of the Projects through the Historically Black 
Colleges and Universities Capital Financing Program ("HBCU Program") administered by the United 
States Department of Education in a maximum aggregate principal amount not to exceed $80,000,000 as 
evidence by one or more loans (collectively, the "2021 Loan"), which HBCU Program loan results in below 
market interest rates; and 

WHEREAS, the University understands that it may be required to pledge certain revenues of the 
University and/or to mortgage certain real property owned by the University as proposed security for the 
2021 Loan; and 

WHEREAS, all consents and approvals required to be given by public bodies in connection with 
the authorization, issuance and sale of the Bonds referred to below in Section 4 as required by the Act have 
been or will be secured prior to the delivery of the Bonds; and 

WHEREAS, this Board, by this resolution, desires to provide for the execution and delivery of the 
Loan Agreement referenced below, and such other documents, instruments and certificates as may be 
required or necessary in connection with the issuance of the Bonds and to set forth certain details of the 
Bonds; and 

WHEREAS, the Board desires to finance the construction, equipping and furnishing of a [330] 
bed dormitory (the "Housing Facilities") and student union (the "Student Union"); and 

WHEREAS, the Bonds issued to construct, equip and furnish the Housing Facilities shall be 
payable solely from residence hall rentals collected by or payable to the University and charged by the 
University to students leasing rooms at the Housing Facilities and the right to receive the same, all proceeds 
of insurance received or receivable by the University, as a result of any damage to or destruction of the 
Housing Facilities, or any part thereof, all amounts received or receivable by the University as 
compensation for the taking or transfer of the Residence Hall Facilities, or any part thereof (collectively the 
"Housing Facilities Fees") and such other security as may be described in the Supplemental Trust Indenture 
(the "Supplemental Indenture") for such Bonds including a maintenance reserve fund and debt service 
reserve fund; and 



2 

WHEREAS, the Bonds issued to construct, equip and furnish the Student Union shall be payable 
solely from not to exceed [$175 per semester] of certain student fees permitted to be charged (the "Student 
Union Fees") and such other security as may be described in the Supplemental Indenture, including a 
maintenance reserve fund and a debt service reserve fund; and 

WHEREAS, a portion of the proceeds of the Bonds may be used to fund the escrow reserve 
subaccount (not to exceed 5.26315% of the 2021 Loan), which may be used to pay for any deficiency 
related to University's loan or any other participant in the HBCU program. 

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Board as follows: 

1. The Board does hereby approve the issuance of not exceeding [$80,000,000] of Revenue 
Bonds in one or more subseries or classes to reflect the different purposes of the borrowing for the benefit 
of the University. 

2. One or more Capital Project Loan Agreements (collectively, the "Loan Agreement") by 
and among The Board of Supervisors of the Southern University System with Rice Capital Access Program 
LLC and one or more Supplemental Trust Indentures (collectively, the "Trust Indenture") by and between 
Rice Capital Access Program LLC and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., be and they 
are hereby approved in substantially the form now before this Board, with such changes as may be approved 
by Decuir, Clark and Adams, counsel to the Board. 

3. The Chair and the Vice Chair of the System and the President of the University, or any one 
of them and their designees, are hereby authorized to execute the Loan Agreement and such other 
documents and certificates as shall be necessary to accomplish the financing described in this resolution.  
The signatures of the said officers or their designees upon such documents set forth above, or as may be 
otherwise required for or necessary, convenient or appropriate to the financing described in this resolution, 
are deemed to be conclusive evidence of their due exercise of the authority vested in them hereunder. 

4. The Bonds shall be issued as taxable or tax-exempt revenue bonds, notes, or other 
evidences of indebtedness in one or more subseries or classes for the benefit of the University, in an 
aggregate principal amount of not to exceed [$80,000,000], at a fixed rate not to exceed 30 years from the 
date thereof, bearing interest at the rate of not exceeding 3.50% per annum, for the purpose (i) constructing, 
equipping and furnishing the Housing Facilities and the Student Union, (ii) funding reserve funds and (iii) 
paying costs of issuance.  The Bonds issued to construct, equip and furnish the Student Union shall be 
payable solely from and secured by Student Union Fees of the University and the Bonds issued to construct, 
equip and furnish the Housing Facilities shall be payable solely from and secured by the Housing Facilities 
Fees and in each case such other security provided in each Supplemental Trust Indenture, including a 
maintenance reserve fund and debt service reserve fund. 

5. The officers of this Board are authorized and empowered to take any and all further action 
and to sign any and all documents, instruments and writings as may be necessary to carry out the purposes 
of this resolution and to file, on behalf of the Board with any governmental board or entity having 
jurisdiction over the Student Union or the Housing Facilities such applications or requests for approval 
thereof as may be required by law. 

6. By virtue of applicant/issuer's application for, acceptance and utilization of the benefits of 
the Louisiana State Bond Commission’s approval(s) resolved and set forth herein, it resolves that it 
understands and agrees that such approval(s) are expressly conditioned upon, and it further resolves that it 
understands, agrees and binds itself, its successors and assigns to, full and continuing compliance with the 
"State Bond Commission Policy on Approval of Proposed Use of Swaps, or other forms of Derivative 
Products Hedges, Etc.", adopted by the Commission on July 20, 2006, as to the borrowing(s) and other 



3 

matter(s) subject to the approval(s), including subsequent application and approval under said Policy of the 
implementation or use of any swap(s) or other product(s) or enhancement(s) covered thereby. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have set my hand. 

       
Secretary 

Dated:       



CERTIFICATE 

 

We, the undersigned and duly appointed officers of the Southern University Board of Supervisors 
do hereby certify that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of a Resolution adopted by the Board of 
Supervisors at its regular meeting on 21st day of May, 2021 at which meeting more than a quorum was 
present and voted. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, we have hereunto signed our names on this 21st day of May, 2021. 

        
Secretary, Southern University Board of Supervisors 

        
Chairman, Southern University Board of Supervisors 









FY21 Budget Actual Projected Total FY21

Over/(Under) 

Budget

% Actual 

to Budget

Revenues

General Fund Direct 43,442,284$        36,991,136$        6,451,148$           43,442,284$        -$                             85.2%

Statutory Dedicated 4,228,516             2,370,656             1,857,860             4,228,516             -                               56.1%

Federal 3,654,209             2,328,591             1,325,618             3,654,209             -                               63.7%

Self Generated

    Tuition - Fall 2020 34,262,460           33,499,895           -                               33,499,895           (762,565)               97.8%

    Tuition - Spring 2021 31,256,081           30,343,456           236,921                 30,580,377           (675,704)               97.1%

    Tuition - Summer 6,993,497             5,522,552             1,838,414             7,360,966             367,469                 79.0%

    Out-of-State Fees 11,910,932           14,125,990           244,520                 14,370,510           2,459,578             118.6%

    Other 16,682,523           11,000,971           4,817,436             15,818,407           (864,116)               65.9%

Interagency Transfer 3,028,515             2,887,266             648,021                 3,535,287             506,772                 95.3%

Total Revenues 155,459,017$   139,070,512$   17,419,939$      156,490,451$   1,031,434$         89.5%

Expenditures 

  Salaries 74,515,941$        64,478,177$        13,141,715$        77,619,892$        3,103,951$           86.5%

  Other Compensation 319,377                 123,083                 14,917                   138,000                 (181,377)               38.5%

  Related Benefits 34,034,650           28,097,331           5,445,417             33,542,749           (491,901)               82.6%

Total Personal Services 108,869,968$   92,698,591$      18,602,049$      111,300,640$   2,430,672$         85.1%

  Travel 1,034,510             65,716                   625,828                 691,544                 (342,966)               6.4%

  Operating Services 15,319,492           12,918,218           1,107,198             14,025,416           (1,294,076)           84.3%

  Supplies 1,845,900             851,094                 657,226                 1,508,320             (337,580)               46.1%

Total Operating Expenses 18,199,902$      13,835,028$      2,390,252$         16,225,280$      (1,974,622)$       76.0%

  Professional Services 2,604,772             1,614,442             668,351                 2,282,793             (321,979)               62.0%

  Other Charges 10,714,822           897,190                 7,287,492             8,184,682             (2,530,140)           8.4%

  Debt Services

  Interagency Transfers 6,238,234             2,427,686             3,810,548             6,238,234             -                               38.9%

Total Other Charges 19,557,828$      4,939,319$         11,766,390$      16,705,709$      (2,852,119)$       25.3%

  General Acquisitions 227,382                 54,430                   205,728                 260,158                 32,776                   23.9%

  Library Acquisitions 562,649                 368,619                 194,030                 562,649                 -                               65.5%

  Major Repairs -                               99,646                   -                               -                               -                               

Total Acquisitions/Major Repairs 790,031$             522,695$             399,758$             822,807$             32,776$               66.2%

  Scholarships 8,041,288             11,102,489           333,527                 11,436,015           3,394,727             138.1%

Total Expenditures 155,459,017$   123,098,121$   33,491,976$      156,490,451$   1,031,434$         79.2%

Southern University System

General Operating Budget Financial Statement 

For Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2021

As of  April 30, 2021 

Page 1



FY21 Budget Actual Projected Total FY21

Over/(Under) 

Budget

% Actual 

to Budget

Revenues

General Fund Direct 3,199,565$           3,541,346$           (341,781)$             3,199,565$           -$                             110.7%

Statutory Dedicated

Federal

Self Generated

    Tuition - Fall 2020

    Tuition - Spring 2021

    Tuition - Summer

    Out-of-State Fees

    Other

Interagency Transfer

Total Revenues 3,199,565$         3,541,346$         (341,781)$           3,199,565$         -$                            110.7%

Expenditures 

  Salaries 1,649,530$           1,589,445$           351,286$              1,940,731$           291,201$              96.4%

  Other Compensation 88,000                   79,333                   8,667                      88,000                   -                               90.2%

  Related Benefits 769,942                 530,043                 269,040                 799,083                 29,141                   68.8%

Total Personal Services 2,507,472$         2,198,821$         628,993$             2,827,814$         320,342$             87.7%

  Travel 185,000                 7,724                      32,806                   40,530                   (144,470)               4.2%

  Operating Services 171,100                 78,704                   45,677                   124,381                 (46,719)                 46.0%

  Supplies 80,000                   24,063                   28,164                   52,227                   (27,773)                 30.1%

Total Operating Expenses 436,100$             110,491$             106,647$             217,138$             (218,962)$           25.3%

  Professional Services 94,000                   -                               20,000                   20,000                   (74,000)                 0.0%

  Other Charges 136,993                 -                               76,837                   76,837                   (60,156)                 0.0%

  Debt Services

  Interagency Transfers

Total Other Charges 230,993$             -$                            96,837$               96,837$               (134,156)$           0.0%

  General Acquisitions 25,000                   15,998                   41,778                   57,776                   32,776                   64.0%

  Library Acquisitions

  Major Repairs

Total Acquisitions/Major Repairs 25,000$               15,998$               41,778$               57,776$               32,776$               64.0%

  Scholarships

Total Expenditures 3,199,565$         2,325,310$         874,255$             3,199,565$         -$                            72.7%

Southern University Board and System Administration

General Operating Budget Financial Statement 

For Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2021

As of  April 30, 2021 

Page 2



FY21 Budget Actual Projected Total FY21

Over/(Under) 

Budget

% Actual 

to Budget

Revenues

General Fund Direct 18,275,725$        14,534,294$        3,741,431$           18,275,725$        -$                             79.5%

Statutory Dedicated 1,593,248             852,753                 740,495                 1,593,248             -                               53.5%

Federal -                               -                               -                               -                               -                               

Self Generated

    Tuition - Fall 2020 21,709,761           20,502,718           -                               20,502,718           (1,207,043)           94.4%

    Tuition - Spring 2021 19,487,148           18,783,689           -                               18,783,689           (703,459)               96.4%

    Tuition - Summer 4,963,498             3,818,200             1,145,298             4,963,498             -                               76.9%

    Out-of-State Fees 8,349,603             9,262,645             165,000                 9,427,645             1,078,042             110.9%

    Other 7,671,356             4,422,644             4,117,515             8,540,159             868,803                 57.7%

Interagency Transfer 3,028,515             2,887,266             648,021                 3,535,287             506,772                 95.3%

Total Revenues 85,078,854$      75,064,209$      10,557,760$      85,621,969$      543,115$             88.2%

Expenditures 

  Salaries 40,450,820$        35,217,859$        4,338,600$           39,556,459$        (894,361)$             87.1%

  Other Compensation 181,377                 -                               -                               -                               (181,377)               0.0%

  Related Benefits 18,669,613           16,425,632           1,247,545             17,673,177           (996,436)               88.0%

Total Personal Services 59,301,810$      51,643,491$      5,586,145$         57,229,636$      (2,072,174)$       87.1%

  Travel 268,210                 15,917                   84,181                   100,098                 (168,112)               5.9%

  Operating Services 8,662,277             7,207,463             563,272                 7,770,735             (891,542)               83.2%

  Supplies 865,911                 504,619                 87,628                   592,247                 (273,664)               58.3%

Total Operating Expenses 9,796,398$         7,727,999$         735,081$             8,463,080$         (1,333,318)$       78.9%

  Professional Services 1,026,480             810,547                 99,835                   910,382                 (116,098)               79.0%

  Other Charges 3,805,700             274,207                 4,228,495             4,502,702             697,002                 7.2%

  Debt Services -                               

  Interagency Transfers 4,017,497             847,579                 3,169,918             4,017,497             -                               21.1%

Total Other Charges 8,849,677$         1,932,333$         7,498,248$         9,430,581$         580,904$             21.8%

  General Acquisitions 52,032                   7,786                      44,246                   52,032                   -                               15.0%

  Library Acquisitions 137,649                 113,626                 24,023                   137,649                 -                               82.5%

  Major Repairs -                               99,646                   -                               -                               -                               

Total Acquisitions/Major Repairs 189,681$             221,058$             68,269$               189,681$             -$                            116.5%

  Scholarships 6,941,288             10,143,991           165,000                 10,308,991           3,367,703             146.1%

Total Expenditures 85,078,854$      71,668,873$      14,052,743$      85,621,969$      543,115$             84.2%
   

Southern University Baton Rouge Campus

General Operating Budget Financial Statement 

For Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2021

As of  April 30, 2021 

 The Southern University Baton Rouge Campus have allocated $2.2 million in CARES Act funds to ensure the budget remains balanced and operations 
continue due to revenue shortfall.

Page 3



FY21 Budget Actual Projected Total FY21

Over/(Under) 

Budget

% Actual 

to Budget

Revenues

General Fund Direct 3,735,319$           3,118,783$           616,536$              3,735,319$           -$                             83.5%

Statutory Dedicated 172,939                 92,270                   80,669                   172,939                 -                               53.4%

Federal -                               -                               -                               -                               -                               

Self Generated

    Tuition - Fall 2020 3,823,146             4,583,457             -                               4,583,457             760,311                 119.9%

    Tuition - Spring 2021 3,499,336             4,412,842             -                               4,412,842             913,506                 126.1%

    Tuition - Summer 700,000                 1,290,991             -                               1,290,991             590,991                 184.4%

    Out-of-State Fees 2,658,500             4,334,936             -                               4,334,936             1,676,436             163.1%

    Other 3,286,762             4,116,697             -                               4,116,697             829,935                 125.3%

Interagency Transfer -                               -                               

Total Revenues 17,876,002$      21,949,976$      697,205$             22,647,181$      4,771,179$         122.8%

Expenditures 

  Salaries 9,471,530$           8,796,371$           4,382,270$           13,178,641$        3,707,111$           92.9%

  Other Compensation -                               -                               -                               -                               -                               

  Related Benefits 3,609,686             2,798,094             1,665,262             4,463,357             853,671                 77.5%

Total Personal Services 13,081,216$      11,594,465$      6,047,532$         17,641,997$      4,560,781$         88.6%

  Travel 385,000                 27,414                   357,586                 385,000                 -                               7.1%

  Operating Services 1,690,629             1,742,277             51,648                   1,793,925             103,296                 103.1%

  Supplies 250,000                 112,557                 137,443                 250,000                 -                               45.0%

Total Operating Expenses 2,325,629$         1,882,249$         546,676$             2,428,925$         103,296$             80.9%

  Professional Services 1,220,590             722,624                 497,966                 1,220,590             -                               59.2%

  Other Charges 432,027                 243,119                 188,908                 432,027                 -                               56.3%

  Debt Services -                               -                               

  Interagency Transfers 366,540                 310,879                 55,661                   366,540                 -                               84.8%

Total Other Charges 2,019,157$         1,276,623$         742,534$             2,019,157$         -$                            63.2%

  General Acquisitions -                               -                               -                               -                               -                               

  Library Acquisitions 250,000                 245,235                 4,765                      250,000                 -                               98.1%

  Major Repairs -                               -                               -                               

Total Acquisitions/Major Repairs 250,000$             245,235$             4,765$                  250,000$             -$                            98.1%

  Scholarships 200,000                 307,102                 307,102                 107,102                 153.6%

Total Expenditures 17,876,002$      15,305,674$      7,341,507$         22,647,181$      4,771,179$         85.6%

Southern University Law Center

General Operating Budget Financial Statement 

For Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2021

As of  April 30, 2021 

Page 4



FY21 Budget Actual Projected Total FY21

Over/(Under) 

Budget

% Actual 

to Budget

Revenues

General Fund Direct 8,158,721$           7,260,957$           897,764$              8,158,721$           -$                             89.0%

Statutory Dedicated 502,799                 303,057                 199,742                 502,799                 -                               60.3%

Federal -                               -                               -                               -                               -                               

Self Generated

    Tuition - Fall 2020 4,851,700             4,619,305             -                               4,619,305             (232,395)               95.2%

    Tuition - Spring 2021 4,577,842             4,099,099             236,921                 4,336,020             (241,822)               89.5%

    Tuition - Summer 429,999                 218,534                 243,116                 461,650                 31,651                   50.8%

    Out-of-State Fees 352,829                 264,634                 79,520                   344,154                 (8,675)                    75.0%

    Other 4,735,175             2,302,171             349,921                 2,652,092             (2,083,083)           48.6%

Interagency Transfer -                               

Total Revenues 23,609,065$      19,067,757$      2,006,984$         21,074,741$      (2,534,323)$       80.8%

Expenditures 

  Salaries 10,111,886$        8,456,620$           1,655,266$           10,111,886$        -$                             83.6%

  Other Compensation -                               -                               -                               -                               -                               

  Related Benefits 4,740,079             4,179,945             576,936                 4,756,881             16,802                   88.2%

Total Personal Services 14,851,965$      12,636,566$      2,232,201$         14,868,767$      16,802$               85.1%

  Travel 37,000                   6,923                      30,077                   37,000                   -                               18.7%

  Operating Services 2,285,294             1,992,619             292,675                 2,285,294             -                               87.2%

  Supplies 285,500                 73,631                   211,869                 285,500                 -                               25.8%

Total Operating Expenses 2,607,794$         2,073,174$         534,620$             2,607,794$         -$                            79.5%

  Professional Services -                               24,652                   348                         25,000                   25,000                   

  Other Charges 4,268,732             24,375                   1,668,232             1,692,607             (2,576,125)           0.6%

  Debt Services

  Interagency Transfers 1,105,574             761,299                 344,275                 1,105,574             -                               68.9%

Total Other Charges 5,374,306$         810,326$             2,012,855$         2,823,181$         (2,551,125)$       15.1%

  General Acquisitions -                               -                               -                               -                               -                               0.0%

  Library Acquisitions 175,000                 9,758                      165,242                 175,000                 -                               5.6%

  Major Repairs -                               -                               -                               

Total Acquisitions/Major Repairs 175,000$             9,758$                  165,242$             175,000$             -$                            5.6%

  Scholarships 600,000                 469,388                 130,612                 600,000                 -                               78.2%

Total Expenditures 23,609,065$      15,999,212$      5,075,530$         21,074,742$      (2,534,323)$       67.8%

Southern University New Orleans Campus

General Operating Budget Financial Statement 

For Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2021

As of  April 30, 2021 

Page 5



FY21 Budget Actual Projected Total FY21

Over/(Under) 

Budget

% Actual 

to Budget

Revenues

General Fund Direct 5,158,497$           4,162,074$           996,423$              5,158,497$           -$                             80.7%

Statutory Dedicated 162,060                 92,270                   69,790                   162,060                 -                               56.9%

Federal

Self Generated

    Tuition - Fall 2020 3,877,853             3,794,415             -                               3,794,415             (83,438)                 97.8%

    Tuition - Spring 2021 3,691,755             3,047,826             -                               3,047,826             (643,929)               82.6%

    Tuition - Summer 900,000                 194,827                 450,000                 644,827                 (255,173)               21.6%

    Out-of-State Fees 550,000                 263,775                 -                               263,775                 (286,225)               48.0%

    Other 989,230                 159,458                 350,000                 509,458                 (479,772)               16.1%

Interagency Transfer -                               -                               

Total Revenues 15,329,395$      11,714,645$      1,866,213$         13,580,858$      (1,748,537)$       76.4%

Expenditures 

  Salaries 7,402,302$           6,574,129$           828,173$              7,402,302$           -$                             88.8%

  Other Compensation -                               -                               -                               -                               -                               0.0%

  Related Benefits 3,666,095             2,772,016             499,000                 3,271,016             (395,079)               75.6%

Total Personal Services 11,068,397$      9,346,145$         1,327,173$         10,673,318$      (395,079)$           84.4%

  Travel 38,300                   1,916                      6,000                      7,916                      (30,384)                 5.0%

  Operating Services 2,166,888             1,649,992             57,785                   1,707,777             (459,111)               76.1%

  Supplies 140,200                 99,057                   5,000                      104,057                 (36,143)                 70.7%

Total Operating Expenses 2,345,388$         1,750,965$         68,785$               1,819,750$         (525,638)$           74.7%

  Professional Services 219,500                 52,619                   10,000                   62,619                   (156,881)               24.0%

  Other Charges 647,487                 6,626                      50,000                   56,626                   (590,861)               1.0%

  Debt Services

  Interagency Transfers 748,623                 507,929                 240,694                 748,623                 -                               67.8%

Total Other Charges 1,615,610$         567,174$             300,694$             867,868$             (747,742)$           35.1%

  General Acquisitions -                               -                               -                               -                               -                               0.0%

  Library Acquisitions -                               -                               -                               0.0%

  Major Repairs -                               -                               -                               0.0%

Total Acquisitions/Major Repairs -$                            -$                            -$                            -$                            -$                            0.0%

  Scholarships 300,000                 182,007                 37,915                   219,922                 (80,078)                 60.7%

Total Expenditures 15,329,395$      11,846,291$      1,734,567$         13,580,858$      (1,748,537)$       77.3%
   

Southern University Shreveport Campus

General Operating Budget Financial Statement 

For Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2021

As of  April 30, 2021 

 The Southern University Shreveport Campus have allocated $2.6 million in CARES Act funds to ensure the budget remains balanced and operations 
continue due to revenue shortfall.

Page 6



FY21 Budget Actual Projected Total FY21

Over/(Under) 

Budget

% Actual 

to Budget

Revenues

General Fund Direct 4,914,457$           4,373,682$           540,775$              4,914,457$           -$                             89.0%

Statutory Dedicated 1,797,470             1,030,306             767,164                 1,797,470             -                               57.3%

Federal 3,654,209             2,328,591             1,325,618             3,654,209             -                               63.7%

Self Generated

    Tuition - Fall 2020

    Tuition - Spring 2021

    Tuition - Summer

    Out-of-State Fees

    Other

Interagency Transfer

Total Revenues 10,366,136$      7,732,578$         2,633,558$         10,366,136$      -$                            74.6%

Expenditures 

  Salaries 5,429,873$           3,843,753$           1,586,120$           5,429,873$           -$                             70.8%

  Other Compensation 50,000                   43,750                   6,250                      50,000                   -                               87.5%

  Related Benefits 2,579,235             1,391,601             1,187,634             2,579,235             -                               54.0%

Total Personal Services 8,059,108$         5,279,103$         2,780,005$         8,059,108$         -$                            65.5%

  Travel 121,000                 5,821                      115,179                 121,000                 -                               4.8%

  Operating Services 343,304                 247,163                 96,141                   343,304                 -                               72.0%

  Supplies 224,289                 37,166                   187,123                 224,289                 -                               16.6%

Total Operating Expenses 688,593$             290,150$             398,443$             688,593$             -$                            42.1%

  Professional Services 44,202                   4,000                      40,202                   44,202                   -                               9.0%

  Other Charges 1,423,883             348,863                 1,075,020             1,423,883             -                               24.5%

  Debt Services

  Interagency Transfers -                               -                               -                               0.0%

Total Other Charges 1,468,085$         352,863$             1,115,222$         1,468,085$         -$                            24.0%

  General Acquisitions 150,350                 30,645                   119,705                 150,350                 -                               20.4%

  Library Acquisitions -                               

  Major Repairs -                               

Total Acquisitions/Major Repairs 150,350$             30,645$               119,705$             150,350$             -$                            20.4%

  Scholarships

Total Expenditures 10,366,136$      5,952,762$         4,413,374$         10,366,136$      -$                            57.4%

Southern University Agricultural Research and Extension Center

General Operating Budget Financial Statement 

For Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2021

As of  April 30, 2021 

Page 7



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

GOVERNANCE 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
(Following Finance Committee) 

Friday, May 21, 2021 
Smith-Brown Student Union 

Cotillion Ball Room 
Baton Rouge, LA 

 
 

AGENDA 
 

1.  Call to Order 
 
2.  Roll Call 
 
3.  Adoption of the Agenda 
 
4.  Public Comments 
 
5.  Action Items  

A. Request Approval for Classified Employee Probationary Policy (SUS) 
B. Request Approval for IT-Policy 8-003: Data Classification Policy (SUS) 
C. Request Approval for IT-Policy 8-005: IT LMS Policy (SUS) 

 
6.  Other Business 
 
7.  Adjournment 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

MEMBERS 
Mr. Myron Lawson- Chairman, Atty. Ed Shorty–Vice-Chair, 

Atty. Jody Amedee, Dr. Leon Tarver, II, Ms. Christy Oliver Reeves, Mr. Sam Gilliam 
Atty. Domoine D. Rutledge- Ex Officio 

 
 











2 | P a g e  
  

III. POLICY COMPLIANCE  

Data remains the most important asset an enterprise possesses. The need for adequate security is an 
overarching concern that pervades all aspects of daily operations and with reporting mandates, adds a 
compliance obligation as well. Adherence to this policy will ensure that the Southern University System 
maintains absolute integrity over its data and processes. Violations may result in the loss of Southern 
University System and network usage privileges, and/or disciplinary action, up to and including 
termination or expulsion as outlined in the applicable user policies.  

  
IV. POLICY DEFINITIONS  

 Restricted.  Data is classified as restricted when there are legal, contractual, or regulatory 
requirements regarding the storage and disclosure of the data.  

 Confidential.  Data is classified as Confidential when the unauthorized disclosure, alteration or 
destruction of that data could cause a significant level of risk to the University System or its affiliates.  

 Internal.  Data which the Data Trustee or Stewards may choose to publish or make public and data 
protected by contractual obligations.  

 Public.  This information can be freely shared with individuals on or off-campus in accordance with 
state and federal regulations without any further authorization by the appropriate Data Trustee, Data 
Steward, or designee.  

  
V. POLICY IMPLEMENTATION PROCEDURES  

As part of the information security program, information assets must be identified, classified, tracked 
and assigned guardianship to ensure that they are protected against unauthorized exposure, tampering, 
loss, or destruction and that they are managed in a manner consistent with applicable federal and state 
law, the University System’s contractual obligations, their significance to the University System, and 
their importance to any individual whose information is collected.  In order to achieve this objective, 
information must be classified to convey the level of protection expected by all employees or agents who 
are authorized to access the information.   

1. Information Asset Collections.  For purposes of managing information, the University System’s 
various types of information must be segregated into logical collections, e.g. student records, 
financial records, employee benefit data, payroll data, medical records, personal information 
regarding alumni, etc.  The security requirements for each collection are defined by the information’s 
needs for confidentiality, integrity and availability.  

2. Information Asset Classification.  To implement security at the appropriate level, establish guidelines 
for legal/regulatory compliance, and reduce or eliminate conflicting standards and controls over data, 
data will be classified into one of the following categories. By default, all institutional data that is 
not explicitly classified should be treated as confidential data.  

a. Restricted. Data is classified as restricted when there are legal, contractual or regulatory 
requirements regarding the storage and disclosure of the data. Unauthorized disclosure or 



3 | P a g e  
  

modification of restricted data would necessitate notifying federal or state authorities and/or the 
affected individuals. Examples of Restricted data include Personal Health Information, 
Personally Identifiable Information (Social Security Numbers), financial account or payment 
card information, authentication or authorization information to electronic resources.  

b. Confidential.  Data is classified as Confidential when the unauthorized disclosure, alteration or 
destruction of that data could cause a significant level of risk to the University System or its 
affiliates.  This information can be shared only on a “need to know” basis with individuals who 
have been authorized by the appropriate Data Trustee, Data Steward or designee, either by job 
function or by name.  The disclosure of confidential data to unauthorized persons may be a 
violation of federal or state laws or University System contracts. Examples of Confidential data 
include data protected by state or federal privacy regulations and data protected by confidentiality 
agreements.  The highest level of security controls should be applied to confidential data.  

c. Internal.  Data which the Data Trustee or Stewards may choose to publish or make public and 
data protected by contractual obligations. Sharing such information with individuals outside the 
University community requires authorization by the appropriate Data Trustee, Data Steward, or 
designee.  

d. Public.  This information can be freely shared with individuals on or off-campus in accordance 
with state and federal regulations without any further authorization by the appropriate Data 
Trustee, Data Steward or designee. Data should be classified as Public when the unauthorized 
disclosure, alteration or destruction of that data would results in little or no risk to the University 
System and its affiliates.  Examples of Public data include press releases, course information and 
research publications.  While little or no controls are required to protect the confidentiality of 
Public data, some level of control is required to prevent unauthorized modification or destruction 
of Public data.  

3. Data in all categories will require varying security measures appropriate to the degree to which the 
loss or corruption of the data would impair the business or research functions of the University 
System, result in financial loss, or violate law, policy or University System contracts.  

4. Information integrity and availability.  For purposes of integrity and availability, information systems 
will be classified as follows:  

a. Non-Critical Systems.  Information systems fall into this category if the unavailability, 
unauthorized modification, loss or destruction of the data residing on the system would cause 
little more than temporary inconvenience to the staff and user community and incur limited 
recovery costs.  Reasonable measures to protect information deemed non-critical include storing 
information in locked office spaces or cabinets, using standard access control mechanisms to 
prevent unauthorized individuals from altering digital information, and making regular backup 
copies.  



4 | P a g e  
  

b. Critical Systems.  Information systems fall in this category if unavailability, unauthorized 
access/modification, loss or destruction through accident, malicious activity or irresponsible 
management could potentially cause the University System to: 1) be unable to conduct a portion 
of its required business for an extended period, 2) suffer significant damage to its reputation, 3) 
endure major financial loss, 4) fall out of compliance with legal, regulatory or contractual 
requirements, or 5) adversely impact members of the extended University System community.  

1. Additional Safeguards.  

a. Data elements in systems should be sampled and checked for validity on a regular basis.  

b. A business continuity plan to recover critical information that has been lost must be 
developed, documented, deployed and tested annually.  

2. Security.  Security measures for data are set by the data custodian, working in cooperation 
with the data stewards.  

3. Responsibilities.  The following roles and responsibilities are established for carrying out 
this policy:  

a. Data Trustee: Data trustees are senior University System officials, or designees who have 
planning and policy-level responsibility for data within their functional areas and 
management responsibilities for defined segments of institutional data. Responsibilities 
include assigning data stewards, participating in establishing policies, and promoting data 
resource management for the good of the entire University System.  

b. Data Steward: Data stewards are University System officials having direct operational 
level responsibility for information management - usually department directors. Data 
stewards are responsible for data access and policy implementation issues. Procedures for 
performing data validation should be developed and implemented by data stewards in 
responsible departments  

c. Data Custodian: Information Technology (IT) is the data custodian. The custodian is 
responsible for providing a secure infrastructure in support of the data, including, but not 
limited to, providing physical security, backup and recovery processes, granting access 
privileges to system users as authorized by data trustees or their designees (usually the 
data stewards), and implementing and administering controls over the information.  

d. Data User: Data users are individuals who need and use University System data as part 
of their assigned duties or in fulfillment of assigned roles or functions within the 
University System community. Individuals who are given access to non-public data have 
a position of special trust and as such are responsible for protecting the security and 
integrity of those data sets.  



5 | P a g e  
  

4. Clarification and communication of roles in data classification are responsibilities of the 
Southern University System’s Data Standards Committee.  
  

VI. POLICY RELATED INFORMATION   

The policies below serve as related information to this policy.  

• Cybersecurity Policy  
• Information Security Policy Plan  
• Acceptable Use of Technology Resources  

  
VII. POLICY HISTORY AND REVIEW CYCLE  

This is a revised policy. The effective date of this revision is determined by the approval dates of both 
the Chair of the Southern University System Board of Supervisors and the President-Chancellor of the 
Southern University and A&M College System. Additionally, the policy last review and origination 
dates are identified. This policy is subject to a five-year policy review cycle.  
  

VIII. POLICY URL  

The approved policy will be posted on the Southern University System website under Board Policies at 
www.sus.edu.  
   

IX. POLICY APPROVAL    

  
  
  
  
_______________________________________________           _________________________  

Ray L. Belton, Ph.D.               Effective Date of Policy   
President-Chancellor, Southern University and A&M College System  
  
  
  
  
______________________________________________             ________________________  

The Honorable Attorney Domoine D. Rutledge               Effective Date of Policy   
Chair - Southern University System Board of Supervisors                                        





2 | P a g e  
  

  
 IV.  POLICY DEFINITIONS  

• Instructor ‐‐ The primary instructor of the course, who creates all course elements and has access to 
all course and student information in a Moodle course.   

• Student ‐‐ The student has access to course materials, assignments, and assessments (for example 
tests) in a Moodle course.   

• Administrator ‐‐ The administrator has system administrative roles to provide technical or functional 
support for the Moodle LMS system.   

  
V.  POLICY IMPLEMENTATION PROCEDURES  

A. Users and Usage  

All persons associated with the Southern University System such as students, faculty, or staff have 
access to Moodle through their SUS campus ID. Guest roles must be created by eLearn and granted 
access on a temporary basis upon requests from faculty or staff in relation to a specified teaching 
and learning need. Only Southern University System students will have access, unless other 
contractual arrangements are made. Faculty may use Moodle for teaching, research, and/or 
committee work. There are three types of university courses using Moodle: traditional classroom 
courses with supplementary Moodle materials, web‐enhanced courses with activities substituting 
for in‐person classroom hours, and completely on‐line courses.  
  

B. User Roles  

Assigned roles and courses in Moodle are integrated with the student information system in 
Banner by means of software called Ellucian Intelligent Learning Platform (ILP). Academic units 
are responsible for input and accuracy of schedule information. If changes to any courses' or 
instructor are desired, then those changes should initiate in the academic units. Then the correct 
information will be pulled through to Moodle. Possible Moodle roles attached to a campus ID 
account:  

1. Instructor role ‐‐ The primary instructor of the course, who creates all course elements 
and has access to all course and student information in a Moodle course. Instructors 
may login and send mail to their SUS email, and access grades.  Instructors have the 
capability of changing their role to a student, however, an instructor does not have 
access to log into a particular student Moodle account.  

2. Secondary instructors and Teaching Assistant (TA) role ‐‐ Primary instructors of a 
course may request to add other instructors such as TA’s to their course. A “nonediting 
teacher” role will be provided in Moodle with varied permissions for partial editing.  
TA’s from SUS can also be added with varied permissions for partial editing.  

3. Student role ‐‐ a student role does not allow one to access the course creation or 
management tools. Instructors may use this role to view and test the course from the 
student point of view.  

4. Administrator role ‐‐ an administrator may change settings for the entire program and 
login as needed or to trouble‐shoot the system.  

  



3 | P a g e  
  

Exceptions to Banner.  Moodle imports course information including classes, instructors, and 
students from Banner. Since Moodle is a digital classroom environment rather than a registration 
system, there are expected differences between the two software systems, such as roles and 
accounts. Exceptions may be manually added to Moodle for the following reasons:  

1. Additional guests in instructor roles: Faculty may request from eLearn that additional 
outside guest speakers be added as co‐instructors or in the TA roles to their Moodle 
course. The possible roles in Moodle do not always correspond to real roles. Guest 
accounts are deleted after one semester.  

2. Students: Moodle can be audited internally and externally for registration, tuition, and 
academic record information, eLearn and the Office of the Registrar will need to 
approve student additions that are exceptions to Banner information.  

3. Entire courses: Faculty and staff may request a course shell to be created in the Moodle 
Test environment for advisement, tutoring, committee‐work, pilot studies, research, 
and/or training purposes with a faculty designer(s) and either guest student accounts 
or actual students.  

  
C. Additional Courses requested by Staff  

Staff may request courses so that they might have contact with the student population they are 
trying to reach. A conflict may arise where students' course lists may become too lengthy so that 
academic courses become buried in the non‐courses. For this reason, the responsible authority 
for any given population of students must approve student enrollments in non‐academic 
"courses". Most additional courses will be put on a different Moodle system, such as Test or 
Development systems.  
  

D. Cross‐listed Courses  

There are a number of possible types of cross‐listed courses.  

1. Courses cross‐listed in Banner: These courses have two different rubrics but are 
approved through the traditional process as one course. Moodle import these 
crosslisted courses as one course, with the multiple CRNs listed, exactly the same as 
in Banner.  

2. Faculty requests for combined courses that will be accommodated.  
• Courses can be meta-linked to combine identical sections with the same course 

rubric for courses taught at different times for the purpose of course resource 
materials and management.  

• Combined identical sections for a special purpose like the library module put into 
combined sections of a course.  

3. Faculty requests for combined courses will be accommodated only with the 
permission of the chair, dean, or provost's office as appropriate.  
• Combined courses with different rubrics.  
• Combined course sections with the same rubric for completely online courses.  

4. Faculty requests to separate courses cross‐listed in Banner into separate courses will 
not be accommodated.  

  



4 | P a g e  
  

E. Semester Transitions  

The transition or copying of course content between semesters should be as simple as possible in 
the Learning Management System environment. Faculty may request ongoing development 
courses to be created on the Learning Management System server by filling out a request form. 
Content will then be moved for faculty if desired. There are two basic types of courses on the 
LMS server ‐ "term‐based" courses and "persistent" courses.  

1. Term Based Courses  

A term‐based course is an "official" course which belongs to a specific term and is recorded in 
the student information system. Generally speaking, at any one time there will be three terms of 
termbased courses on the server ‐ the current term, and the two previous terms. There will be 
short windows (of perhaps a month) during which there will be four terms of courses on the 
server. The specific technicalities are spelled out below.  

Term‐based courses follow this life cycle.  
a. A term‐based course will be created on the LMS server (via an automated interface 

with the student information system) one month before the start of the term to which 
it belongs. Example: If a course belongs to a Spring term that starts on Jan 12, then 
the course will be created approximately on Dec 12 (one month earlier).  

b. Courses exist on the Moodle server for one year (based on the end date of the term 
they belong to) after which time they are archived (backed up and placed on the 
backup server). Example: A course taught in Fall 2016 will remain available to the 
instructor and students on the Moodle server until the end of Fall 2017. Within a 
month or two, a backup (archive) file will be made, the course will be deleted from 
the Moodle server, and the archive file will be available only by request through an 
application.  

c. Faculty will have access to the course throughout its life cycle ‐ in other words, 
from the moment it is created until the moment it is archived.  

d. Students will have access to the course starting one week before the official course 
start date. Example ‐ If a course in Spring term starts on Jan 12, then the course will 
become available to students on January 5.  

e. Students’ access to courses will end at the end of each semester.  
  

2. Persistent Courses  

A persistent course is one which is not bound to a specific term. It is not archived at any specific 
point in time, but rather stays on the server until there is an explicit reason to remove it (like the 
request of the faculty who owns it). Persistent courses fall into the following general categories:  

a. Ongoing Development or Practice Courses: These course shells will be created at 
faculty request to store course data or develop courses. Faculty may use these 
courses for developing content for teaching, service, and research purposes. At the 
end of every academic year (immediately after June 30 each year), all materials in 
the Development Courses that have remained untouched for a period of 3 prior 
years will be archived and accessible by eLearn, who will search old courses at 
faculty request.  

b. Faculty Organizations: Faculty may have courses created for a digital space that 
enhances committee or academic work, and faculty forums.  



5 | P a g e  
  

  
F. Incompletes  

Southern University Undergraduate policy on "I" grades is that they must be cleared during the 
first 8 weeks of the "...next semester (Fall or Spring) for which the student registers..." According 
to this policy, if a student receives an "I" grade in Spring and Summer semesters, it would not 
need to be made up until 8 weeks into Fall, if he/she registered for Fall. If the student had an 
incomplete in Fall, and registered for Spring, he/she would have 8 weeks into Spring to complete 
the course. If the student had an incomplete in Fall or Spring and did not register for the following 
Spring or Fall, he/she would have 1 calendar year from the end of the semester to complete it.  
  
The Learning Management System will always have the current term and the last two terms worth 
of courses available. This should accommodate all "I" type situations described above. This 
means that accommodating incomplete requests should not require a course to be restored from 
an archive. If, however, the course is from a term that is no longer on the server, the faculty can 
request that the course be restored from the archive. eLearn will construct a shell for the archived 
course and import it so that the instructor and student can both access it.  
  

If faculty wants a previous student to complete his/her grade accessing the current semester's 
course, the student will be added to the new course after the Registrar's approval. Moodle policies 
regarding incompletes will always follow the current Southern University policy as well as 
directives from the Office of Academic Affairs and the Office of the Registrar.  

  
G. Course Ownership  

Faculty shall individually own their courses in Moodle. No other faculty member, administrator, 
or academic unit may copy an individual's Moodle course without their written permission. 
However, if a particular unit and their faculty share modules or courses among a certain group 
and approve alternate written arrangements or contracts, eLearn will follow those arrangements 
if they are consistent with all other policies in this document.  
  

H. Moodle Webpage  

Moodle webpages on Southern University System campus websites contain links to various user 
support tools and request forms.  

1. Help Request General Form‐‐any type of help involving Moodle may be requested 
here by instructors and students.  

2. Moodle Development Courses‐‐this form is to request additional practice courses on 
Moodle.  

  
I. MOODLE Support  

SUS campuses Office of e‐Learning administers and provides instructional and user support 
services for Moodle. eLearn services faculty and students’ requests for help, training, and special 
services concerning Moodle. These services are in accordance with university approved 
procedures and policies concerning users, assigned roles, additional requested courses and 
crosslisted courses, semester transitions of content, incompletes, course ownership and user 
support.    



6 | P a g e  
  

  
After Hours Support – Faculty and students have access to after-hour support. Support hours are 
from 5pm to 8am on weekdays and 24 hours support on weekends and holidays. The toll-free 
access number is on Moodle landing page and Southern University System campus websites.  
  

J. Student Privacy  

Moodle courses are password‐protected so that students meet in a private online classroom space. 
Although students generally should not see each other's registry information without consent, 
such as email addresses, the Participants Block in Moodle does allow students to see other email 
addresses within a particular course.  The Participants Block may be hidden from students by an 
instructor closing the eye icon, or students may hide their email in the Edit Profile area.  
  

K. MOODLE Maintenance  

DoIT hosts, maintains, and provides technical support for Moodle, specifically system upgrades, 
patches, plugins, and bug fixes.    

1. MOODLE Upgrades  

A new version of Moodle LMS is installed for each academic year starting with the Fall 
semester to provide enhanced functionalities included in newer releases. The 
installation is typically the latest stable version of Moodle released in the Spring, and it 
is available for testing and training after the Spring mid-semester.  

2. Course Backups and Retention  

There are three types of backup (copies) of Moodle courses.  
a. Server backup by DoIT of the entire system: These can't be used to find individual 

courses but exist in case of emergency to the entire system.  
b. Retention of Course Archives: These are end of the semester individual course 

backups, identifiable by their CRN. When a course is removed from the Moodle 
server (see Semester Transitions, above) it is backed up into a file and moved to 
the archives. The backup file will remain in the archives for three years after the 
end date of the course and then it will be deleted. Faculty can request a copy of the 
backup file from e‐LIS staff at any time before it is deleted. Ex: A Fall 2018 course 
backup file will be available in the archives until the end of Fall 2021, at which 
time it will be deleted.  Notification will be sent to faculty before this process 
occurs.  

c. Archives: Faculty may request a copy of old Moodle' courses (older than one 
semester) from the archives. However, it would be best also for faculty to create 
their own backups of Moodle courses and their own archives.  

d. Faculty backups: Faculty should create backups of their courses using Moodle’s 
backup tool. This tool will create a backup file which faculty can download to their 
own computer for storage. This is the instructor’s best protection against losing 
course data.  

3. MOODLE Plugins  

Plugins add notable enhancements to Moodle courses and instructions. Faculty and 
students may submit requests for plugins to the Moodle Development and Advisory 



7 | P a g e  
  

Committee (MDAC).  The MDAC committee will meet as needed to review feature 
requests for feasibility and make recommendations that will benefit the online learning 
community as a whole and not individual preferences.  The timelines for submitting 
requests for plugins can be found on the Moodle webpage.  

  
L. MOODLE Development and Advisory Committee (MDAC)  

MOODLE plays a key role in academic pursuits and research endeavors of students and faculty 
alike. The main purpose of Moodle Development Advisory Committee (MDAC) is to ensure 
users of MOODLE have a voice in the development of the product in terms of instructional 
modalities, application functionalities, and system performance.  The MDAC is comprised of 
faculty from across different disciplines at each campus, eLearn and IT personnel across the 
system. Committee members are appointed on annual basis and new memberships are 
recommended during the Spring semester. The committee meets regularly to review 
enhancement requests and make recommendations that benefit the online learning community as 
a whole.  The committee may also invite student representatives to meetings as needed during 
the academic year.  
  
 VI.  POLICY RELATED INFORMATION   

The policy below serves as related information to this policy.  
 Acceptable Use of Technology Resources  

  
 VII.  POLICY HISTORY AND REVIEW CYCLE  

This is a revised policy. The effective date of this revision is determined by the approval dates of 
both the Chair of the Southern University System Board of Supervisors and the 
PresidentChancellor of the Southern University and A&M College System. Additionally, the 
policy last review and origination dates are identified. This policy is subject to a five-year policy 
review cycle.  
  

VIII. POLICY URL  

The approved policy will be posted on the Southern University System website under Board 
Policies at www.sus.edu.  
   
 IX.  POLICY APPROVAL    

  
  
_______________________________________________           _________________________  

Ray L. Belton, Ph.D.               Effective Date of Policy   
President-Chancellor, Southern University and A&M College System  
  
  
   
______________________________________________             ________________________  

The Honorable Attorney Domoine D. Rutledge               Effective Date of Policy   
Chair - Southern University System Board of Supervisors                                        



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PERSONNEL 
AFFAIRS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

PERSONNEL AFFAIRS COMMITTEE 
(Following Governance Committee) 

Friday, May 21, 2021 
Smith-Brown Student Union 

Cotillion Ball Room 
Baton Rouge, LA 

 
AGENDA 

 
1.  Call to Order  
 
2.  Roll Call 
 
3.  Adoption of the Agenda 
 
4.  Public Comments 
 
5. Action Items 
 

A. Request Approval of Personnel Action on Positions equal to or greater than $60,000 
 

Name Position/Campus Salary Funding Source 
1. Harold Boudreaux Physical Education Instructor/ 

Head Basketball Coach 
New Appointment 

(SU Lab) 

$70,000.00 State 

2. Marla Dickerson Associate Vice Chancellor for Innovation and 
Strategic Partnership & Initiatives  

Additional Duties/Salary Adjustment 
(SULC) 

$102,820.00 State/Federal 

3. Saturn Douglas Director of Recruitment and Retention 
College of Agricultural, Family and Consumer 

Sciences 
New Appointment 

(SUBR) 

$65,000.00 State 

4. Koshaneke Gilbert Career Services Director 
New Appointment 

(SULC) 

$93,600.00 State 

5. Susan Henry Director of Communications & Marketing 
Title Change/Additional Duties 

(SUNO) 

$70,000.00 State 

6. Jasmine Hunter Director of Communications  
Additional Duties/Salary Adjustment 

(SULC) 

$82,960.00 State/Federal 

7. Trinity Johnson Asst. Specialist, Youth Development STEAM 
New Appointment 

(SUAREC) 

$65,000.00 State 

8. Andrea Love Associate Vice Chancellor of Enrollment 
Management & Matriculation Services 

New Appointment 
(SULC) 

$126,000.00 State 



 

9. Due H. Nguyen Jr. Systems Administrator 
Division of Information Technology 

New Appointment 
(SUBR) 

$75,000.00 State 

10. Alycia Grace O’Bear Assistant Professor of  
Clinical Education/Disaster Relief.  

Additional Duties/Salary Adjustment 
(SULC) 

$78,620.00 State/Federal 

11. Brian Keith Phillips Asst. Specialist, Small Farms 
New Appointment 

(SUAREC) 

$65,000.00 Federal 

12. Jasmine Plowe Asst. Specialist, Public Health 
New Appointment 

(SUAREC) 

$63,000.00 State 

13. Deshoin York Vice Chancellor for Extension and  
Outreach Program 
New Appointment 

(SUAREC) 

$135,000.00 Federal 

 
6. Request Consideration of Termination Appeal – Kevin Augustine (SU Laboratory School) ** 

 
7. Other Business 

 
8. Adjournment 

 
 
 

** Executive Session May Be Required 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

MEMBERS 
Mr. Sam Gilliam–Chairman, Ms. Christy Oliver Reed–Vice Chair, Dr. Leon Tarver,  

Mr. John Barthelemy, Dr. Rani Whitfield, Atty. Jody Amedee 
Atty. Domoine D. Rutledge- Ex Officio 

































































































































































































 
 
 

BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS 



 

SOUTHERN UNIVERSITY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
(Following Personnel Affairs Committee) 

Friday, May 21, 2021 
Smith-Brown Student Union 

Cotillion Ball Room 
Baton Rouge, LA 

 
 

AGENDA 
 

1. Call to Order  
 

2. Roll Call 
 

3. Adoption of the Agenda 
 

4. Public Comments 
 

5. Special Presentations 
 

A. Above and Beyond Award 
B. Acknowledgment of $100,000 Donation from Tony Clayton (SULC) 
C. IBM Masters Fellows Recognition (SUBR) 

 
6. Action Items 

A. Request Approval of the Minutes from the April 16, 2021 SU Board of 
Supervisors Meeting 

B. Approval of Committee Reports and Recommendations 
C. Request Approval of Amendment for Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) 

between the Charles Winnsboro Corporation and the Southern University Law 
Center. (SULC) 

D. Request Approval for Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) between the Southern 
University Law Center and Generation Esports. (SULC) 

E. Request Approval for Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) between Southern 
University Law Center and Gideon’s Promise (SULC) 

F. Resolutions 
 

7. Informational Items 
A. Legislative Updates 
B. Medical Marijuana Update 
C. System President’s Report 
D. Campus Reports 

 
8. Other Business 

 
9. Adjournment 





1 | P a g e  
Board of Supervisors Meeting Minutes April 16, 2021 
 

SOUTHERN UNIVERSITY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS MEETING 
Committee of the Whole 
Friday, April 16, 2021 

Shreveport Convention Center 
104 Market Street 

Shreveport, LA 71101 

9:00 AM 

 
Minutes 

 

The meeting of the Southern University Board of Supervisors was called to order by Board Chairman 
Attorney Domoine Rutledge.  The invocation was given by Reverend Thereon Jackson of Morning Star 
Baptist Church in Shreveport, La.    

Pledge of Allegiance was led by Board Member Jody Amedee 

Roll Call by Dr. Ray Belton. 
 
Board Members Present:  Chairman Atty. Domoine Rutledge, Vice Chairman Atty. Edwin Shorty, Atty 
Jody Amedee, Mr. John Barthelemy, Dr. Leroy Davis, Mr. Raymond Fondel, Jr., Mr. Bakari Garvey, Mr. 
Sam Gilliam, Mr. Richard Hilliard, Mr. Myron Lawson, Ms. Christy Reeves, Dr. Leon Tarver II, Rev. 
Samuel Tolbert, Dr. Rani Whitfield, and Ms. Arlanda Williams 
 
Board Member Absent:  Mrs. Ann Smith 
 
AGENDA ITEM 5:  ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA 

Upon the motion by Dr. Rani Whitfield and second by Ms. Christy Reeves, the agenda was recommended 
for adoption.   

Motion Approved. 

AGENDA ITEM 6:  PUBLIC COMMENTS 

None 

AGENDA ITEM 7:  SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS 

A.  Above and Beyond Award  
Presented by Dr. Rodney Ellis and Dr. Melva Williams from Southern University at Shreveport 
Campus to Dr. Alan Jackson, Assistant Director of Enrollment Services and Financial Aid.    
Dr. Williams thanked Dr. Jackson for his service and for going above and beyond the call of 
duty for the students during the month of February when it was freezing and unsafe to travel. 
Dr. Ellis, Dr. Williams and the student affairs and enrollment management team along with 
Chairman Rutledge and Dr. Belton presented the plaque to Dr. Jackson.  Dr. Jackson thanked 
his wife for being present as well as the entire team and university.  He thanked Dr. Williams 
and the Board of Supervisors for the award and mentioned he did what he had to do for the 
students.   



2 | P a g e  
Board of Supervisors Meeting Minutes April 16, 2021 
 

B. Frank Taylor, Jr. Memorial Scholarship 
Board Member Gilliam and Mrs. Dottie Bell presented $35k donation on behalf of the 
Frank Taylor, Jr. Family.  Mr.  Frank Taylor, Jr. sister gave remarks and comments on 
behalf of the family.  They presented the check to Dr. Ellis.   
Franklin Williams also presented funds to SUSLA on behalf of the SUSLA foundation.  
 

C. Billie Jones Donation 
Dr. Robyn Merrick along with Atty Felicia Hamilton (representative for Billie Francis 
Stokes Jones estate) presented a generous gift to SUBR on behalf of Mrs. Jones who 
was a 1954 graduate of Booker T High School in Shreveport and a 1959 SUBR 
graduate.  She was an educator and a generous alumnus who wanted to leave a gift to 
SUBR up on her passing on September 28, 2019 at the age of 83. Atty Hamilton 
represents the estate for Ms. Jones and she presented a check in the amount of $21,500 
for five $4,000 scholarships to African American Students (juniors/seniors) from 
Shreveport, Louisiana majoring in secondary education with the remaining $1,500 
placed in the discretionary fund to be used at the directive of the Chair and made in 
memory of Billy Francis Stokes Jones. She presented the check to Chairman Rutledge, 
Dr. Belton and Dr. Sahoo who represents academic Affairs for the SUBR campus.  Mr. 
Gilliam and Hilliard are members of the board from Shreveport so they were asked to 
come up for photo.   
  

D. SU Army ROTC 
Dr. Robyn Merrick introduced Colonel David Marshall who will be attended via zoom.  
Colonel Marshall is the commander and professor at SUBR.  He was united with his 
counterpart at Grambling this morning beginning at 5am.  Making history as the bayou 
classic game football, for the first time is being run from Grambling State University 
to Shreveport by both the Southern University and the Grambling State University 
Army ROTC units.  Colonel Marshall thanked Dr. Merrick for having him and he 
mentioned he is joined by Colonel Mason More from Grambling.  He mentioned the 
weather isn’t good but they are over halfway to Shreveport and they have three more 
hours to go.  He have a total of 60 cadets who are there and they have a lot of support 
from state troopers and others who is in the caravan.  He thanked his staff and everyone 
for all they have done for him.  He thanked Dr. Merrick for the exposure and he hope 
to see everyone tomorrow. Dr. Merrick and Chairman Rutledge thanked Colonel 
Marshall.    
 

E. Greetings from GSU President Rick Gallot  
Chairman Atty Rutledge acknowledged President Gallot for his presence at the board 
meeting.  He thanked him for attending the board reception and commended him on 
his leadership at Grambling.  President Gallot thanked Chairman Rutledge, Dr. Belton 
and the SU Board Members for inviting him to come and speak.  He mentioned “both 
universities mission is the same and they both provide the best possible training for the 
graduates to go out and change the world.  He also discussed other HBCUs and racism 



3 | P a g e  
Board of Supervisors Meeting Minutes April 16, 2021 
 

in the country but the goal and the task of everyone is to do what we have to do and 
change people’s live and prepare the young people not to only be a part of the world 
but to change the world.  He congratulated Southern University on all the great work 
and congratulated Chancellor Pierre for his great work and God bless all of you and 
thank you again and welcome to North Louisiana.”   Chairman Atty Rutledge thanked 
President Gallot again for being present and he mentioned to him that he had a special 
presentation for him and asked Dr. Merrick to come up and make the special 
presentation of the signature mask to President Gallot.   
    

F. Bayou Classic signature Mask 
Dr. Merrick announced the unveiling of the Bayou Classic signature mask.  She 
mentioned, “This was part of the universities Don’t Wait Vaccinate public awareness 
campaign as it relates to the vaccine participation amongst the communities.”  She 
mentioned “the mask will be available for all members of the board and those in the 
audience today.” She also mentioned everyone at the Bayou Classic would receive a 
mask at the game as well.  She presented the signature mask to President Gallot and 
Chairman Rutledge presented him with the shadow box which included the mask as a 
token of his appreciation.   
 

G. Check Presentations 
1.  McDonald’s (SUSLA) 
Stephanie Rogers introduced Mr. Roy Griggs who is the President and CEO of 
McDonald’s and his wife along with his family.  Mr. Griggs came and gave a 
presentation and pledged an initial seed gift of his own in the amount of $250k to 
SUSLA on behalf of Griggs Enterprise. There were additional $250k in matching gifts 
from Mr. John Hopkins and other friends of Mr. Griggs.   
 
2.  SUSLA Alumni (SUSLA) 
Rev. James Brown, SU Alumnus from Houston, TX presented a check on behalf of Mr. 
Stephen Thomas who couldn’t be in attendance.  He presented the check to Dr. Ellis 
(SUSLA) in the amount of $20k.   
 
3.  Precious Memory Funeral Home (SUSLA)  
There wasn’t a representative from Precious Memory Funeral Home in attendance.  

 

Chairman Atty Rutledge thanked everyone for the donations and contributions this morning.  He 
thanked everyone for their patience. Chairman Rutledge acknowledged the Student 
Representatives from SGA, the newly elected president from SUBR Mr. Kevin Taylor-Jarrell II 
and the immediate past president from SUBR Mr. Chandler Vidrine and some of the members of 
their cabinet. He asked them to stand and thanked them for being there.     

 



4 | P a g e  
Board of Supervisors Meeting Minutes April 16, 2021 
 
AGENDA ITEM 8:  ACTION ITEM(s): 

There was a motion by Dr. Leon Tarver and second by Mr. John Barthelemy to approve Action Item 8A.  

Motion Approved  

A.  Request Approval of the Minutes from March 12, 2021 meeting of the Board of 
Supervisors    

There was a global motion by Mr. John Barthelemy and second by Ms. Christy Reeves to approve in global 
(action items 8B – 8E) 
 
Motion Approved 
 

Brief Comments were provided by Dr. Sahoo (SUBR) on Item 8C, Chancellor Pierre/ Board Member 
Garvey (SULC) on Item 8D and Chancellor Ammons on Item 8E.  They were all available for any questions 
the board members may have.  There were none . 

 
B. Certification of Spring 2021 Graduates (all campuses) 
C. Request Approval to Award the Honorary Degree of Doctorate of Humane Letters to J. 

Terrel Brown - SU College of Business (SUBR) 
D. Request Approval for the Conferral of a Posthumous Degree in the Name of William 

Nabors from the Southern University Law Center (SULC) 
E. Request Approval of Ms. Gayle Benson as Commencement Speaker and Awarding of 

Honorary Degree of Doctorate of Humane Letters -SUNO College of Business and 
Public Administration (SUNO) 

 
There was a global motion by Dr. Leon Tarver and second by Mr. John Barthelemy to approve in global 
(action items 8F – 8I ) 
 
Motion Approved 
 
Item 8F - Dr. Albert Samuels made a brief presentation to the Dr. Jewel Limar Prestage family.  Mr. Grady 
Prestage was in attendance on behalf of the family via zoom.  Dr. Samuels acknowledged Dr. Prestage and 
Mr. Grady Prestage thanked Chairman Rutledge, Dr. Belton, and the board members as well as the 
university behalf of his father and his siblings and family for honoring his mother. There were board 
members that congratulated the Prestage Family with brief comments and acknowledgements . 
 
 

F. Request Approval to Establish the Southern University and A&M College Jewel Limar 
Prestage Public Policy, Polling and Research Center (SUBR) 
 

G. Request Approval of Memorandum of Understanding between the Southern University 
Agricultural Research and Extension Center and Black Farmers Hemp Research and 
Training Facility, LLC. (SUAREC) 

H. Request Approval of Memorandum of Understanding between the Southern University 
Agricultural Family and Consumer Sciences 1890 JAG S.T.A.R.S Scholarship and East 
Baton Rouge Parish School System (SUAREC) 

I. Request Approval of Memorandum of Understanding between LSU Health Shreveport 
School of Medicine MOU with SUBR and SUNO 



5 | P a g e  
Board of Supervisors Meeting Minutes April 16, 2021 
 
There was a global motion by Mr. Sam Gilliam and second by Atty Edwin Shorty to approve in global 
(action items 8J – 8M) 

 
Motion Approved. 
 

J. Request Authorization for the Southern University Law Center (SULC) to negotiate an 
Agreement with ION Tuition and Mentor Works to Provide Alternate Sources to 
Finance Student Educational Aspirations and Pursuits (SULC) 

K. Request Approval of Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) to develop remote/virtual 
certificate and degree programs for students and professionals in Sub-Saharan Africa 
by the Southern University Law Center (SULC) 
 

L. Request Approval of Tenure and Promotion Recommendations. 
 

 

 
 
Mr. Gilliam expressed his concerns and asked questions of Dr. Sahoo and Dr. Belton in 
reference to the process and evaluation for this tenure and promotion recommendations.  He 
requests more info for this section.  Dr. Sahoo gave his comments.   
Dr. Davis expressed his concerns as well in reference to this peer review process as well.   
 
Based on comments, Chairman Atty Rutledge requested  Dr. Belton to please have an agenda 
item for the May meeting with the academic committee to present and explain the process for 
tenure and promotion recommendations.   This was noted. 
   
 

M. Request Approval of Tenure Track Recommendation for Katherine A. McFarlane 
(SULC) 

 
 
There was a global motion by Mr. Myron Lawson and second by Ms. Arlanda Williams to approve in global 
(action items 8N – 8S) 

 
Motion approved.  
 



6 | P a g e  
Board of Supervisors Meeting Minutes April 16, 2021 
 
Brief comments were provided by Dr. Ammons – Item 8N (SUNO) and Dr. Ellis – Item 8O (SUSLA) – 
Dr. Belton – Item 8Q (SUBR). They were all available for any questions the board members may have.     

Mr. Sam Gilliam and Ms. Arlanda asked Dr. Ellis to expound on Item 8O with additional details on 
certificate of technical study and Associate of Applied science.  Dr. Ellis commented and there were no 
further questions for him.   

Dr. Leroy Davis and Mr. Bakari Garvey commented on the faculty and their professional development - 
Items 8R/S - and Dr. Belton responded to their comments.   

Atty Shorty commented on Item S -  He mentioned “its fairly difficult to find what we’re revising sometimes 
when reviewing the policies when it isn’t noted or redlined.”  He requested going forward if the policies 
can be redlined to note updates or changes. 

Chairman Rutledge agreed with Attorney Shorty and requested “whenever there is a policy change, the 
changes be redlined as we can see what the difference is.”  This was noted.   

 

N.  Request Approval to Implement 100% Online Degree Courses, Effective Fall 2021 
(SUNO)  

1. B.S. in Criminal Justice 
2. M.A. in Criminal Justice 
3. Bachelors in Interdisciplinary Studies 
4. B.S. in Health Information Management Systems 
 

O. Request Approval Implement New Programs of Study Specifically Designed 
to Address the Workforce Needs in the Northwest Louisiana Region, 
Increase Enrollment and Provide More Options and Opportunities for 
Embedded Credentials. (SUSLA)  

1. Associates of Applied Science in Computer Engineering 
2. Certificate of Technical Study: Engineering (Academic Transfer and Dual 

Enrollment) 
3. Certificate of Technical Study: Quality Assurance 
4. Certificate of Technical Study: Energy Technology 
5. Certificate of Technical Study: Electronics Technology Technician 
6. Certificate of Technical Study: Petroleum Technology Operator 
7. Certificate of Applied Science: Digital Forensics 
8. Certificate of Technical Studies: Aviation 
9. Certificate of Technical Studies: Automotive Technology 
10. Certificate of Technical Study: Precision Measurement Instruments 
11. Certificate of Technical Studies: Payroll Accounting 
12. Certificate of Technical Studies: Human Resources Specialist 
13. Certificate of Technical Studies: Law Enforcement Administration 
14. Certificate of Technical Studies: Security Studies 
15. Associate and Applied Science (AAS) Degree in Graphic and Web Design 
16. Certificate of Technical Studies: Graphics Design 
17. Request Approval of Certificate of General Studies 
 

P. Request Approval to Use Prior Year Funds for Student Services (SUBR)  
 



7 | P a g e  
Board of Supervisors Meeting Minutes April 16, 2021 
 

Q. Request Authorization to Advance the HBCU Capital Finance Program 
Application (SUBR)  

R. Request Approval of Endowed Professorship Policy (SUSLA) 
 

S. Request Approval of Revised Policy for Endowed Faculty and Chairs 
(SUBR) 
 

There was a motion by Mr. Bakari Garvey and second by Atty Edwin Shorty to approve Action Item 8T.  

Motion Approved  

Chancellor Pierre gave brief comments .  Dr. Davis question the federal funding for Title III and Title IX.  
Chancellor Pierre responded and explained the funding.  Mr. Garvey commended Chancellor Pierre 

T. Request Approval of Salary Adjustments for Instructors/Academic 
Counselors (SULC) 
 

 
 
There was a motion by Mr. Sam Gilliam and second by Dr. Rani Whitfield to approve Action Item 8U.  

Motion Approved  

Dr. Belton gave brief comments.  He noted the increases were not based on merit/tenure/or productivity.  
It was only force of equity – women/men.  No Questions.   

 

 

Name Position/Campus Salary Funding 
Source 

1. John Brown Instructor/Academic Counselor 
Salary Adjustment 

(SULC) 

$81,000.00 Federal 

2. Jessica Johnson Instructor/Academic Counselor 
Salary Adjustment 

(SULC) 

$84,000.00 Federal 

3. Kimberly Lamotte Instructor/Academic Counselor 
Salary Adjustment 

(SULC) 

$96,000.00 Federal 

6.  Courtney Richardson Instructor/Academic Counselor 
Salary Adjustment 

(SULC) 

$93,000.00 Federal 

7. Gina Signorelli Instructor/Academic Counselor 
Salary Adjustment 

(SULC) 

$81,000.00 Federal 

8.  Rahim Smith Instructor/Academic Counselor 
Salary Adjustment 

(SULC) 

$93,000.00 Federal 

9. Julie Stillman Instructor/Academic Counselor 
Salary Adjustment 

(SULC) 

$81,000.00 Federal 

    10. Jerne’ Theriot Instructor/Academic Counselor 
Salary Adjustment 

(SULC) 

$81,000.00 Federal 

    11. Valencia Vessel Instructor/Academic Counselor 
Salary Adjustment 

(SULC) 

$81,000.00 Federal 

   12.       William Wilson Instructor/Academic Counselor 
Salary Adjustment 

(SULC) 

$81,000.00 Federal 



8 | P a g e  
Board of Supervisors Meeting Minutes April 16, 2021 
 

U. Request Approval of Equity Adjustments (SUBR) 
 

There was a motion by Ms. Arlanda Williams and second by Mr. Sam Gilliam to approve Action Item 
8V.  

Motion Approved  

Ms. Williams asked question in reference to additional duties.  She also questioned the amount prior to 
increase.  Chancellor Pierre responded on behalf of SULC and Dr. Belton responded on behalf of SUBR.   

V. Request Approval of Personnel Action on Positions Equal to or Greater than $60,000.00 

 
 

 

Name Position/Campus Salary Funding 
Source 

1.  Marla Dickerson Associate Vice-Chancellor for Innovation and Strategic 
Partnerships and Initiatives 

New Appointment 
(SULC) 

$126,000.00 State 

2. Adriel Hilton Vice-Chancellor of Student Affairs and Enrollment 
Management/Associate Professor of Education 

Faculty Appointment / Title Change 
(SUNO) 

No Change -- 

3. Jasmine Hunter Director of Communication 
Additional Duties 

(SULC) 

$78,000.00 State 

4.     Kerii Landry-Thomas Associate Vice Chancellor for 
Equity Inclusion and Title IX 

New Appointment 
(SULC) 

$120,000.00         
Federal 

5.. Robyn Merrick VP for External Affairs and University Relations 
Additional Duties 

(SUS) 

$145,000.00 State 

6.. Nadia Gadson Moses Asst Dean and Program Director 
Additional Responsibilities 

(SUBR) 

$74,000.00 Federal 

7.     Ursula Ransburg Title IX Investigator/ Campus Safety 
& Clery Act Coordinator 

New Position 
(SULC) 

$78,000.00        
State 

8.     Tracie Washington Title IX Director 
New Position 

(SULC) 

$99,000.00 Federal 

9. Clarence Williams Director of Admissions and Recruitment 
New Position 

(SUNO) 

$70,000.00 State 

1. Cynthia Bryant Dean of Humanities and Interdisciplinary Studies 
Equity Adjustment 

(SUBR) 

$145,650.00 State 

2. Barbara Carpenter Dean of International Programs 
Equity Adjustment 

(SUBR) 

$127,500.00 State 

3. Karen Crosby Dean of the Honors College- SUBR 
Equity Adjustment 

(SUBR) 

$127,500.00 State 

4. Damien Ejigiri Dean of the Nelson Mandela School of Public Policy and 
Urban Affairs 

Equity Adjustment 
(SUBR) 

$145,650.00 State 

5. Dawn Kight Dean - Library 
Equity Adjustment 

(SUBR) 

$127,500.00 State 

 



9 | P a g e  
Board of Supervisors Meeting Minutes April 16, 2021 
 
There was a motion by Ms. Arlanda Williams and second by Attorney Shorty to approve Action Item 8W.  

Motion Approved  

 
W. Request approval of Sabbatical for the Fall 2021 Semester- Dr. David S. Adegboye’ (SUNO) 

 
X. Resolutions 

 
Dr. Katara Williams, Chief of Staff read resolutions and commendations for the following:   

• Ms. Angela Hopkins 
• Mr. Robert Staple Haynes Family 
• Mr. Alex Brown 
• Mr. Leroy Evans, III 

There was an additions: 

• Ms. Kori Gauthier – LSU Student   

Dr. Rani Whitfield thanked the board office for preparing the resolution for his cousin Leroy 
Evans, III.  He and the family appreciate all the support and prayers.   

Upon Motion from Dr. Leroy Davis to approve the read resolutions with the additions and Dr. 
Rani Whitfield second the motion.   

Motion Approved. 

AGENDA ITEM 9:  Informational Items: 

A. Interim Financial Update 
The Financial report for Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2021 as of March 31, 2021 was 
provided by Mr. McClinton for all campuses. Mr. McClinton mentioned “the detailed 
information is provided in the board packet for each campus.    He also mentioned he 
monitors the expenditures monthly and he also make sure we are in line with the revenue 
projections.  This month we are in line with the revenue projection.   
Mr. McClinton mentioned he would entertain any questions from the members regarding 
the interim financial report.  There were none.   
 

B. Dual Enrollment Update (by campus) – Detail reports are available upon request.  
 

• SUSLA – Dr. Williams and Dr. Kidd presented the report.  
          Mr. Gilliam commended the group and gave some brief comments. 

• SUNO – Dr. Ammons presented the report. 
Mr. Fondel, Mr. Garvey, Dr. Whitfield, Ms. Williams and Mr. Barthelemy commended Dr. 
Ammons.  They all had questions and comments which Dr. Ammons responded. 

• SUBR – Dr. Sahoo and Dr. Preastly and Dr. Smith-Ross presented the report 
Mr. Garvey commended the team and asked what were their projections for the future? They 
are planning for the future.  Mr. Fondel questions if the credits are transferrable if you leave 
SU? Yes the credits are transferable.   



10 | P a g e  
Board of Supervisors Meeting Minutes April 16, 2021 
 

 
Dr. Belton congratulated the teams from SUBR, SUNO, and SUSLA for the great report. 
They all have enrollment increase.  

• SULC – Ms. Deleso Alford presented the report. Mr. Garvey had a question on 
the phase 1-3 time frame.  Chancellor Pierre says “5 years” 

 
C. Update on SULC Legal Education in the Shreveport/Bossier and Northwest Region 

(SULC) 
Chancellor John  Pierre presented the update.   
 

D. Update on Vaccination Public Awareness Campaign - Don't Wait. Vaccinate! – Dr. 
Robyn Merrick gave report.  There were nine locations and there were a total of 2,028 
persons served. Chairman Atty Rutledge thanked her for her efforts along with her staff.  
He also thanked Dr. Belton.  Dr. Belton thanked Dr. Ellis and his team in Shreveport and 
all the other campuses for all their work and support.   
 

E. Legislative Update – Dr. Merrick gave report.   
 

F. System President’s Report ~ Southern University and A&M College Presidential Fellows    - - 
 

Dr. Belton gave his president report and Dr. Katara Williams discussed the Presidential Fellows 
Program which she has a pleasure to work with Dr. Segura.  The fellowship is an elite and unique 
opportunity that will provide an exceptional and unprecedented college experience to some of the 
best and brightest diverse student leaders and scholars of the 21st century.  There will be an 
application process and eligibility requirements.  Will choose 8 students who will receive $2,000 
Stipend and other Lagniappe.  The application will open on May 10, 2021.   
There were no questions.   

 
G. Campus Reports – Each Chancellor gave their campus reports.  (Detail Report is posted 

online and can be available upon request)  
 
AGENDA ITEM 10:  Other Business: 

Chairman Rutledge acknowledged Athletic Director Roman Banks.  He asked AD Banks if he 
wanted to give any remarks.  AD Banks thanked the Mayor for having them in Shreveport.  He 
thanked Chairman Rutledge, Dr. Belton and the board members for all their support and thanked 
everyone for coming to Shreveport.  He announced we should be returning to New Orleans in the 
fall.    

Chairman Rutledge informed the members that the May Meeting would be an in person meeting 
in Baton Rouge.   

AGENDA ITEM 11:  Adjournment 

Chairman Atty Rutledge request a motion to adjourn.  Dr. Rani Whitfield made the motion.  
Motion Approved.  




































	Cover Page
	Approval to Award Juris Doctoral Degree Diploma to Jonnie Jones
	Approval to Adopt a BSN Proposal (SUNO)
	Approval to Adopt Master of Arts in Teaching
	Athletics
	Approval for Athletic Funding Support
	Approval of Personnel Action within the Department of Athletics
	Facilities and Property 
	Small Capital Outlay
	Facilities and Property Update
	Finance
	Approval of Reso;ution to Incur Debt Under the HBCU Capital Financing Program
	Approval to Rededicate Existing Fees to Support New Student Union
	Interim Financial Report
	Governance
	Approval for Classified Employee Probationary Policy
	Approval for IT-Policy 8-003: Data Classification Policy
	Approval for IT-Policy 8-005: IT LMS Policy
	Personnel
	Approval of Personnel Action on Positions Equal to or Greater than $60,000
	Board of Supervisors
	Donation to SULC
	Approval of April SU Board of Supervisors Meeting
	MOU between Charles Winnsboro Corporation and SULC
	MOA between SULC and Generation Esports
	MOU between Gideon's Promise and SULC



